# UC Riverside UC Riverside Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Movements or Memorization: A Trade-Off in a Copying Task

## Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/21p1j74d

## **Author** Luo, Chuan

**Publication Date** 

2023

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RIVERSIDE

Movements or Memorization: A Trade-Off in a Copying Task

A Dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

 $\mathrm{in}$ 

Psychology

by

Chuan Luo

September 2023

Dissertation Committee:

Dr. John M. Franchak, Chairperson Dr. Elizabeth L. Davis Dr. Kalina J. Michalska

Copyright by Chuan Luo 2023 The Dissertation of Chuan Luo is approved:

Committee Chairperson

University of California, Riverside

#### Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I want to thank my advisor and other committee members for their support throughout my graduate years. I am also grateful for having Kellan Kadooka and Brianna McGee as my graduate fellows and all other lab members. Special thanks go to my research assistants: Yee Lat, Lunette Si, Faizah Ahmed, Tiffany Yee, David Luong, Jocelyn Lam, and Helen Sayavong. I would not have finished the dissertation project without their help. I acknowledge Chapter 2 of this dissertation was published in the journal *Collabra: Psychology* (Luo & Franchak, 2022). I want to thank the co-author of the paper, the journal editor, and the reviewers for their contributions. Finally, I deeply thank my parents and friends for their continued love.

To my parents for all the support.

#### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Movements or Memorization: A Trade-Off in a Copying Task

by

Chuan Luo

Doctor of Philosophy, Graduate Program in Psychology University of California, Riverside, September 2023 Dr. John M. Franchak, Chairperson

The aim of the dissertation is to investigate how people trade off between expending motor effort and memorization effort when visually exploring in different directions to gather information. Specifically, Chapter 2 studied how the motor effort of eye-head-body movements and memorization difficulty affected the motor-memory trade-off in a copying task. Chapter 3 studied how people adjusted the motor-memory trade-off after repeated practice with the task. Lastly, Chapter 4 studied whether inducing people to test a different strategy led to discovery and later adoption of a more efficient strategy. Each chapter examined both the copying strategies (i.e. the trade-off between using more motor effort versus more memory) and the eye-head-body coordination underlying the task. Results showed that participants expended more motor effort when the eye-head-body movements to make gaze shifts were less effortful and when the information was difficult to remember (Chapter2); participants used more memory after repeated practice with the task (Chapter 3); exposing participants to test a different strategy led them to adopt a memory-based strategy (Chapter 4). Overall, participants coordinated their eyes, head, and body differently according to the task conditions such as angle and external restriction. They also changed the eye-head-body coordination to decrease total motor cost over the course of doing the task. The findings suggested that people are adaptive in trading off between motor effort and use of memory.

# Contents

List of Figures			x
$\mathbf{Li}$	st of	Tables	xii
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Movement or Memorization: A Trade-off in a Copying Task	2
		1.1.1 Effect of Repeated Practice	4
		1.1.2 Effect of Strategy Exploration	6
	1.2	Eye-Head-Body Coordination in the Copying Task	7
		1.2.1 Characteristics of Eye, Head, Body Movements	7
		1.2.2 Learning to Coordinate Eye-Head-Body More Efficiently	8
<b>2</b>	Eye	-Head-Body Coordination in the Motor-Memory Trade-Off	11
	2.1	Abstract	11
	2.2	Introduction	12
	2.3	Current Study	16
	2.4	Method	18
		2.4.1 Participants and Design	18
		2.4.2 Apparatus	19
		2.4.3 Procedure	21
		2.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses	23
	2.5	Results	26
		2.5.1 Motor Effort and Memorization Difficulty Affected Motor-Memory	
		Trade-Off	26
		2.5.2 Eye-Head-Body Coordination Differed Across Angles	29
	2.6	Discussion	33
3	Hov Pra	v Do People Change Motor-Memory Trade-Off Spontaneously with ctice?	1 37
	3.1	Abstract	37
	3.2	Introduction	38
		3.2.1 Trading Off Between Motor Effort and Memory	39

	3.3	Current Study	42
	3.4	Method	44
		3.4.1 Participants and Design	44
		3.4.2 Apparatus	45
		3.4.3 Procedure	47
		3.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses	49
	3.5	Results	51
		3.5.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination	51
		3.5.2 Motor-Memory Trade-Off	57
	3.6	Discussion	61
		3.6.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination at Different Angles Over Trials	62
		3.6.2 Changes in the Copying Strategy	63
		3.6.3 Practice Effects on Motor-Memory Trade-Off	64
		3.6.4 Conclusion	65
4	Doe	s Inducing People to Test a Different Strategy Lead to Later Adoption	
	of a	More Efficient Strategy?	37
	4.1	Abstract	67
	4.2	Introduction	68
		4.2.1 Strategy Exploration	70
	4.3	Current Study	71
	4.4	Method	74
		4.4.1 Participants and Design	74
		4.4.2 Apparatus $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	75
		4.4.3 Procedure	77
		4.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses	79
	4.5	Results	81
		4.5.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination	82
		4.5.2 Motor-Memory Trade-Off	85
	4.6	Discussion	89
		4.6.1 Changes in Eye-Head-Body Coordination	90
		4.6.2 Changes in the Copying Strategy	91
		4.6.3 Conclusion	92
<b>5</b>	Con	clusions and Future Directions	<b>}</b> 3
	5.1	Implications for the Degrees of Freedom Problem	95
	5.2	Implications for Development	97
Bi	bliog	graphy 10	)2

# List of Figures

2.1	An example trial in which the multi-colored model was positioned at $90^{\circ}$ on	
	the right side	20
2.2	Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and	
	a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck	
	were attached to a headband and a shoulder band	21
2.3	The eye tracker videos were synchronized with the time series of horizontal	
	eye and head rotations. Left: One frame taken from the eye tracker videos	
	(the eye video was imposed over the scene video on the top left corner).	
	The bulls-eye showed the participant's gaze landed on the model which was	
	positioned at 90° to the participant's right hand side. Right: The time series	
	of eye (upper) and head (lower) rotations in degrees, with positive values	
	with positive values indicating the future and possitive values indicating the	
	with positive values indicating the future and negative values indicating the post. The red verticel lines mark the current time $(0)$ , which corresponds to	
	the video frame shown on the left	24
21	The number of looks $(A)$ and mean look duration $(B)$ across angle and difficulty.	$\frac{24}{97}$
2.4 2.5	A: The average even head and body rotations at different angles B: The	21
	proportion that the eve, head, and body movements contributed to the gaze	
	shifts as the angle increased. Note that the proportions were calculated at	
	the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one	30
3.1	An example trial in which the model was positioned at $90^{\circ}$ on the right side.	46
3.2	Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and	
	a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck	17
0.0	were attached to a headband and a shoulder band	47
3.3	Summaries of model predictions for the eye, head, and body proportions	50
9.4	(separate colored lines) over trials (x-axis) for different angles	53
3.4	A: The average eye, head, and body rotations at different angles. B: The	
	shifts as the angle increased. Note that the propertions were calculated at	
	the trial level so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one	54
	the that level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one	04

3.5	Summaries of model predictions for (A)the number of looks, (B) mean look duration, (C) trial duration, and (D) look proportion over trials (x-axis)	
	across angle (separate colored lines).	59
4.1	The experimental setup	76
4.2	Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and	
	a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck	
	were attached to a headband and a shoulder band. Participants wore a neck	
	brace during the restriction block.	77
4.3	The proportion that the eye, head, and body movements (separate colored	
	lines) contributed to the gaze shifts across blocks (x-axis) for different angles	
	(A: $45^{\circ}$ , B: $135^{\circ}$ ). Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial	
	level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one	83
4.4	Comparisons of (A) the number of looks, (B) mean look duration, (C) trial	
	duration, and (D) look proportion across the blocks (x-axis) for different	
	angles (separate colored lines).	88

# List of Tables

2.1	Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks and look duration
2.2	from angle and difficulty.
2.2	Descriptive statistics ( $M$ and $SD$ ) for the number of looks and look duration
	(in second) by angle and difficulty.
2.3	Summary of LMM results predicting rotation and proportion from angle,
	difficulty, and segment.
2.4	Pairwise comparisons between segments for each angle
2.5	Descriptive statistics ( $M$ and $SD$ ) for the rotation (in degree) and proportion by angle and segment. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial
	level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one
2.6	Pairwise comparisons between angles for each segment based on the propor-
	tion of each gaze shift.
3.1	Descriptive statistics $(M \text{ and } SD)$ for the rotation (in degree) and proportion
	by angle and segment. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial
	level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one
3.2	Summary of LMM results predicting rotation and proportion from angle,
	trial, and segment.
3.3	Pairwise comparisons between segments for each angle
3.4	Summary of LMM results predicting rotation from trial and segment for
	different angles
3.5	Pairwise comparisons between adjacent angles for each segment based on the
	proportion of each gaze shift.
3.6	Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks, look duration, trial
	duration, and look proportion from angle and trial
3.7	Pairwise comparisons between adjacent angles for the number of looks, look
	duration, trial duration, and look proportion. $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$
4.1	Descriptive statistics $(M \text{ and } SD)$ for the proportion by block and segment
	for each angle. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level,
	so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

4.2	Summary of LMM results predicting proportion from block and segment for	
	each angle.	83
4.3	Pairwise comparisons for the proportion between blocks (1: pre-restriction,	
	2: restriction, 3: post-restriction) by segment for each angle.	84
4.4	Pairwise comparisons for the proportion between segments by block for each	
	angle	84
4.5	Descriptive statistics $(M \text{ and } SD)$ for the number of looks, look duration,	
	trial duration, and look proportion by block for each angle	86
4.6	Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks, look duration, trial	
	duration, and look proportion from block and angle	87
4.7	Pairwise comparisons between blocks (1: pre-restriction, 2: restriction, 3:	
	post-restriction) for the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and	
	look proportion for each angle	87

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

People need both motor and cognitive abilities to complete almost every task, but they can choose to trade off the use of them in some situations. A *trade-off* means using one ability more to compensate for using the other less. Previous studies have demonstrated that people trade off between expending motor effort and memorization effort when completing a copying task that requires looking in different directions to gather information [9, 26, 55, 70, 93]. The aim of the dissertation is to investigate how people adjust the motor-memory tradeoff and the eye-head-body coordination underlying the copying task. Across three studies, a primary goal was to understand whether people navigated the trade-off *efficiently*. More memorization can allow people to complete the task more quickly by reducing the need to look multiple times. In particular, more use of head and body rotations to look can decrease efficiency. Thus, the studies examined how people spontaneously choose more versus less efficient strategies, and identify what factors potentially lead to a change in strategy. Specifically, Chapter 2 studied how the motor effort of eye-head-body movements and memorization difficulty affected the motor-memory trade-off. Chapter 3 studied how people adjusted the motor-memory trade-off after repeated practice with the task to understand whether task learning leads to adopting more efficient strategies. Lastly, Chapter 4 studied whether inducing people to test a different strategy led to discovery and later adoption of a more efficient strategy. Each chapter examined two sets of behaviors—the *motor-memory trade-off* and the *eye-head-body coordination*. In the following, I will first review how the motor-memory trade-off has been studied using the copying task. Second, I will review the effects of repeated practice and strategy exploration, and discuss how those findings might be applied to the motor-memory trade-off. Last, I will highlight the importance of capturing the eye-head-body coordination and relating it to the motor-memory trade-off.

# 1.1 Movement or Memorization: A Trade-off in a Copying Task

Suppose you are copying information from a board to your notebook. Depending on whether the board is located close or far, you may choose different ways to gather the information. If the board is just in front of you, you may choose to move the eyes, head, and body frequently (i.e. expending more motor effort) to copy the information. If the board is behind you, you may hold more information in memory to avoid looking back and forth multiple times.

This example illustrates a trade-off where people may choose to use more motor effort or memory to compensate for using the other less according to the task conditions. Past work has investigated this motor-memory trade-off in a copying task [9]. In the study, participants were instructed to copy the models composed of 8 blocks. How participants visually explored the models to gather information was recorded, which included the number of times they moved their eyes, head, and body to look at the model for a trial, and the mean duration of the model looks. The number of looks was used as a measure of the motor effort expended by participants. The more frequently participants looked at the models, the more motor effort they expended. The mean duration of model looks was used to indicate the use of memory, assuming participants were memorizing the information while looking. Results showed that participants looked at the models very often with short duration. They tended to copy 1 block at a time. That is, they were willing to expend more motor effort by moving their eyes, head, and body frequently to minimize the information they held in the memory. This copying strategy was not efficient as participants spent excessive time looking back and forth. Would people change the strategy to use more memory to reduce frequent looking?

Recent work found that people adjust the trade-off to task constraints. For example, Draschkow and colleagues varied the angle of the models from 45° to 135° [26]. Results showed that participants decreased the frequency of moving their eyes, head, and body to look at the models at larger angles. Instead, participants spent longer looking at the model each time to remember the information. That is, when larger, more effortful movements were required, people chose to use more memory to reduce motor effort. However, the increase in use of memory was minimal. Participants still looked more frequently than was necessary.

In addition, other task constraints such as the accessibility and predictability of the to-be-gathered information [8, 63, 27], the time constraint to complete the task [68], and the cost of making errors [68, 106] may affect the motor-memory trade-off. This dissertation focused on the effects of the motor effort required to move the eyes, head, and body to gather information and the memorization difficulty of models (Chapter 2). This dissertation also studied how people adjust the motor-memory trade-off to improve efficiency in a given condition after repeated practice (Chapter 3) and strategy exploration (Chapter 4).

#### 1.1.1 Effect of Repeated Practice

How might people improve efficiency when trading off between motor effort and memory within task? One possibility is that people might spontaneously adjust the motormemory trade-off for higher efficiency after repeated practice with the task. Previous literature suggested that with practice people improved efficiency in a variety of memory, problem-solving, and decision-making tasks [108, 79, 80, 119, 28, 64, 108, 76, 100, 89]. For instance, participants responded faster and faster in recognizing and generating words after multiple trials of memory tasks [108, 79, 80, 119, 28]. Higher predicting accuracy was achieved as participants practiced more in a gambling game [100]. Less time was needed to solve math problems if participants were exposed to similar problems before [89]. But how do people improve efficiency after repeated practice? Do they improve by executing the same strategy more efficiently? Or do they change the strategy? Some past work suggested that people may stick with their initial strategies after repeated practice [129, 90]. In a memory test, participants were presented with arrays of word pairs and asked to determine as quickly as possible if the target word pair matched one of the pairs in the arrays [129]. Results showed that participants visually checked the arrays frequently to compare with the target after multiple trials, although they could possibly memorize the arrays and compare with the target from memory. In another reaching task, participants were asked to choose one strategy from two options before the start of each trial [90]. Although their decisions on the strategy in trial 1 were arbitrary, participants did not tend to change them in later trials. One explanation was that adjusting strategies may compete for common cognitive resources such as attention, information processing, and executive functions, which may slow down the on-going motor performance [90].

Would people change their strategy—using more memory in the copying task? Since the copying task incurs both perceptual-motor and cognitive demands, strategy change might be expensive. Moreover, with multiple degrees of freedom, participants might explore various ways of improving their efficiency. People could maintain a similar number of times looking at the model (keeping memory constant), but change the way they coordinate the eyes, head, and body to use less costly movements. Or, people could change strategies by using more memory and fewer looks to the model. Either possibility (or both in combination) could improve efficiency. The change in strategies has to be efficient enough in saving effort to compete with the motor system. It remains unknown whether people choose to use more memory with experience over time.

#### 1.1.2 Effect of Strategy Exploration

Strategy change may depend on people's willingness to explore strategies. Past work suggested that compared to young children, adults are reluctant to explore different strategies [41]. In the study, participants made perceptual judgments whether they could squeeze through a doorway while wearing a backpack. They were allowed to explore the doorway freely. However, unlike young children who tried different ways to squeeze through the doorway, some adults never practiced, resulting in poor perceptual judgments. The findings suggested that adults tend to avoid taking risks or making mistakes.

Past work also showed that people may discover and adopt the most efficient strategy after being exposed to all possible strategies [68]. In the study, participants copied information from one program to another on a computer. They first went through nochoice trials where they were constrained to use certain strategies to copy the information. Afterwards, participants went through choice trials where they were allowed to use any strategy they preferred. Results showed in the choice trials, participants chose the strategy that previously produced the highest correct copying rate in the no-choice trials. The findings suggested that people are sensitive to the strategy efficiency but have to be induced to explore different strategies in the first place.

How would people be willing to explore strategies in the copying task where the movements of eyes, head, and body are required to visually explore the information? Would they discover and adopt the more efficient strategy after being exposed to a different strategy? In Chapter 4, we increased the motor cost of eye-head-body movements by head restriction and tested if it induced strategy change, and produced carry-over effects after the head restriction removed.

## 1.2 Eye-Head-Body Coordination in the Copying Task

Each decision to shift eye gaze from one location to another means selecting how to coordinate multiple effectors, suggesting that there are multiple degrees of freedom to control. For example, shifting gaze  $20^{\circ}$  horizontally can be accomplished by a  $20^{\circ}$  eye movement with no movements of head or body, a  $10^{\circ}$  eye movement with a  $10^{\circ}$  head movement and no body rotation, or a  $5^{\circ}$  eye movement with a  $5^{\circ}$  head movement and  $10^{\circ}$ body rotation (among many other possibilities). How people choose to coordinate their effectors directly impacts the motor cost. Each lower-effort eye movement and higher-effort head and body movements expends different amounts of energy. As I will review, the coordination of eyes, head, and body can be complex.

#### **1.2.1** Characteristics of Eye, Head, Body Movements

Prior work treated motor effort as a linear or categorical variable [9, 26, 55, 70]. In one example, Draschkow and colleagues varied the motor effort by placing models at the angle of 45°, 90°, and 135° [26]. In another study, the motor effort was manipulated by varying walking distance between the workspace and model [59]. However, the eye-headbody coordination is non-linear [43, 42, 86, 123, 45, 48, 120]. First, the eyes, head, and body have different biomechanical properties [86, 67, 60, 123, 3, 126, 51]. For example, eye movements are quick with smaller range of rotation whereas the head and body movements are slow with larger range of rotation [86, 67, 60, 123, 3, 126, 51]. As a result, eye movements are less effortful and cost less energetically compared to head and body movements [122].

Second, people may coordinate their eyes, head, and body differently in everyday tasks compared to in lab studies. For example, as shown in lab studies, people can horizontally rotate their eyes to as large as about 55° and rotate their head to  $\pm 90^{\circ}$  [58, 126]. But people do not tend to move their eyes and head near the motor limit in everyday tasks. Instead, they move the eyes, head, and body to make small amplitude gaze shifts [125, 101, 45, 69, 91, 30].

Thus, it was unclear in the previous studies how the manipulation of angle or distance changed the motor effort (i.e. eye-head-body movements). The current studies attempted to address this limitation by measuring the actual movements of the eyes, head, and body when viewing the models at a wide range of angles in the copying task. Understanding the relative contributions of low-effort effectors (eyes) versus higher-effort effectors (head and body) will help explain why effort varies between different angles of rotation, and may provide insight about how participants select how often to make gaze shifts in different circumstances.

### 1.2.2 Learning to Coordinate Eye-Head-Body More Efficiently

In addition to capturing the real-time eye-head-body coordination, the studies aimed to examine the changes in eye-head-body coordination after repeated practice. How might participants change their eye-head-body coordination over the course of doing the copying task for multiple trials? First, participants might improve the speed of moving their eyes, head, and body. Previous studies showed that participants decreased the latency of movements, moved faster, and had less errors in the key-pressing, throwing, and kicking tasks [20, 19, 96, 21, 53]. It is possible that participants would rotate their eyes, head, and body more quickly in the copying task to improve efficiency with practice.

Second, participants might change the eye-head-body coordination with repeated practice. A prior study showed that participants restricted head movement at the beginning of a large-scale searching task but learned to coordinate the eyes and head later in the task [33]. It is possible that in the copying task participants might increase the proportion of eye and head movements to reduce costly body movements thus improving higher efficiency. But it remains unknown whether people would execute the same eye-head-body coordination or change the proportion each segment contributes when making gaze shifts after repeated practice.

It is possible that people may not discover the most efficient eye-head-body coordination spontaneously after practice. Does inducing people to explore different eye-headbody coordination lead to discovery and adoption of more efficient eye-head-body coordination? What is the effect of eye-head-body alteration on the motor-memory trade-off? Does it explain the strategy change in the copying task? The dissertation explored if head restriction is a successful manipulation on the eye-head-body coordination and whether it induces coordination changes after the head restriction removed.

In sum, this dissertation investigated how people trade off motor effort and use of memory depending on task constraints, and how they adjust the motor-memory trade-off for higher efficiency after repeated practice and strategy exploration. Besides the copying strategies, the underlying eye-head-body coordination were examined to better understand the effect of motor cost on the motor-memory trade-off.

# Chapter 2

# Eye-Head-Body Coordination in the Motor-Memory Trade-Off

## 2.1 Abstract

Previous studies have demonstrated that people trade off between expending motor effort and memorization effort when completing a copying task that requires looking in different directions to gather information. When information is easy to gather with minimal movement, people choose to look more frequently and rely on less on memorization, however, they reduce motor effort and rely on memory more when looking requires larger (and more effortful) shifts of gaze. This paper investigated the eye-head-body movements that guided looking as well as participants' trade-off between using motor effort and memory in a copying task. We add to prior work by characterizing the coordination between eyes, head, and body required to look at targets at different angles. In the task, participants copied models onto a board while wearing a mobile eye tracker that measured eye rotations and motion sensors that measured head rotations. We manipulated the angle of the model relative to the participant and the memorization difficulty of the models. Results showed that the eye movements contributed more to small gaze shifts but the head and body contributed more as the angle of the target increased (requiring larger amplitude shifts of gaze). Participants chose to look frequently when models were adjacent to the workspace, but chose to rely more on memory for models that required greater shifts of gaze. Memorization difficulty affected the trade-off such that participants used more memory when the models were easy to remember. We discuss how participants' decisions to look versus remember may depend on the contribution of eyes, head, and body to shift gaze by varying amplitudes.

## 2.2 Introduction

Suppose you are cooking an unfamiliar meal and you need to follow the recipe. Will you turn to look at the recipe at each step to avoid taxing your memory, or will you memorize several steps during each look at the recipe to reduce the effort incurred by looking multiple times? It may depend on how close recipe is to the counter. If you only need to glance to the side of the counter to see the recipe, you may choose to look more frequently. If you have to turn completely around to see the recipe pinned to the fridge, you may prefer to memorize more steps at a time.

This example illustrates that people trade off the use of motor and cognitive abilities depending on task conditions. Previous studies have shown that people's trade-off between using more motor effort or more memory depends on the degree of effort required to turn the eyes, head, and body to gather information [85, 62, 55, 59, 70], the accessibility and predictability of the to-be-gathered information [8, 63, 27], the time constraint to complete the task [68], the cost of making errors [68, 106], and the exposure to prior training [106]. In this paper, we will focus on how motor effort and memorization difficulty affect the motor-memory trade-off and the coordination of eye, head, and body movements to visually explore in different directions.

In a foundational experiment, Ballard and colleagues devised a block-copying task to examine the motor-memory trade-off [9]. In the block-copying task, participants were asked to copy models consisting of eight blocks onto a nearby blank board (i.e. workspace). Results showed that participants picked up one block at a time, looked at the model where the block was located, and then placed the block on the workspace. They followed the same sequence—look, pick up, look, place—to copy the blocks. The finding suggested that participants were willing to expend motor effort to look at the model each time rather than rely on memory to copy the models. However, in another study [8] found that if the models were only present for 10 s, participants were actually able to remember the locations of 4 blocks at a time and copied them correctly from memory. But participants did not do so voluntarily when given a choice.

Recently, [26] manipulated the motor effort required to visually inspect the model by varying the angle needed to turn to look at the models by placing them at  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ , and  $135^{\circ}$  around the participants. They measured how many features (e.g. the identity and/or location of one or multiple blocks) participants remembered in one look. Results showed that participants only memorized 1-2 features each time they looked at the model, and the number of features memorized remained similar as the angle increased. That is, the increase in memorization in response to the increased motor effort was very small. People were reluctant to use memory even though using memory could improve efficiency by reducing the number of model looks (which reduces the total amount of motor movement).

A limitation in past work was how motor effort was operationalized. In previous studies, motor effort was considered as either a binary (e.g. more or less) or linear variable (e.g. ranging from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  and from  $90^{\circ}$  to  $135^{\circ}$ ). But simply increasing the angle may not result in equal, linear change in motor effort. As we will review, the coordination of eyes, head, and body can be complex.

Indeed, the motor effort to look depends on how the eyes, head, and body are coordinated to shift gaze [43, 42, 86, 123, 45, 48, 120]. The oculomotor range of human eyes is  $\pm 55^{\circ}$  horizontally [58, 126], which means that people can only look at things within  $55^{\circ}$  to either side without also moving the head or body. But people do not tend to make eye movements near the oculomotor limit unless head movement is restrained, such as in laboratory situations. Instead, people move both the eyes and head (and even body slightly) to make small amplitude gaze shifts in everyday tasks [125, 101, 45, 69, 91, 30]. But, as the gaze shift angle increases, the head and body make larger contribution to the gaze shifts [47, 67, 45, 109, 120].

How might changing contributions of the eyes versus head versus body alter the motor effort of a gaze shift? First, the eyes, head, and body movements have different biomechanical properties. Eye movements are quick with smaller range of rotation whereas the head and body movements are slow with larger range of rotation [86, 67, 60, 123, 3, 126,

51]. Second, eye movements cost less energetically compared to head and body movements [122]. It is possible that compared to eye movements, head and body movements may greatly change people's willingness to use motor effort versus memory.

Thus, it was unclear in the previous studies how the manipulation of angle changed the motor effort (i.e. eye-head-body movements). As a result, in the current study we tracked the movements of eyes, head, and body in the block-copying task to observe the eye-head-body coordination to view models varying from 45° to 180°. We aimed to measure the actual movements of the eyes, head, and body when each gaze shift was made in a motormemory trade-off task. Understanding the relative contributions of low-effort effectors (eyes) versus higher-effort effectors (head and body) will help explain why effort varies between different angles of rotation, and may provide insight about how participants select how often to make gaze shifts in different circumstances.

In addition to motor effort, some previous studies also manipulated memorization difficulty by designing different patterns of models to test the effect of memorization difficulty on the motor-memory trade-off [85, 59]. The findings from the previous studies were mixed. In [85], two types of models were generated with one type organized into one configuration whereas the other as two configurations (with space in between). Both types were composed of 6 blocks of 3 different colors. No effect of memorization difficulty was found in their study. However, in [59], the "easy" and "difficult" models (both composed of 6 blocks of 6 different colors) depended on how adjacent blocks were connected—the adjacent blocks shared a full edge in the easy model, whereas shared a half edge or a corner point in the difficult model. They found a significant main effect of memorization difficulty on the motor-memory trade-off: the more difficult, the more motor effort was spent by the participants to look at models.

Is it possible that the mixed results were due to the fact that the models were made too difficult so that the participants minimized the use of memory even for the "easy" models? Thus, in the current study, we enlarged the difference between the easy and difficult models by making the easy model easier to remember to investigate the effect of memorization difficulty. Specifically, the difficult model was equivalent to the models used in the foundational study [9] consisting of 8 blocks of various colors. The easy model contained 8 blocks of the same color. The same-colored models were easy because the participants only needed to remember the location of the blocks, whereas the multi-colored models were difficult as both the color and location of the blocks to be remembered. With decreased memorization difficulty in the easy model, the participants might adopt a different trade-off by using more memory and reducing the number of times they look at the model. Crossing memorization difficulty with the angle of the model allowed us to test if memorization difficulty interacted with motor effort, or whether memorization difficulty and motor effort had independent effects on visual exploration.

## 2.3 Current Study

Although motor effort has been identified as a factor that affects the motor-memory trade-off, little is known about the underlying eye-head-body movements that guide looking. In the current study, we first examined how motor effort and memorization difficulty affected people's willingness to use more movement or memory in the block-copying task [9]. Second, we investigated how the eyes, head, and body coordinated to visually explore models at different rotations.

In the task, we manipulated two independent variables: 1) motor effort, by placing the models at 4 different angles on each side of the participants (45°, 90°, 135°, and 180°); and 2) memorization difficulty, by varying whether the model to be copied contained a set of blocks consisting of either one color or multiple colors. The two independent variables were fully crossed. We aimed to investigate how the varying motor effort and memorization difficulty affect participants' trade-off between motor and memory use.

To answer the first question on how motor effort and memorization difficulty affect the motor-memory trade-off, a head-mounted eye tracker worn by the participants determined when participants looked at the models, allowing us to calculate two dependent variables. The first dependent variable was how many times the participants looked at the models in the trials (number of looks), which indicated the motor effort spent by the participants to view the model. The greater number of looks meant the participants moved the eyes, head, and/or body more frequently to look at the model. The second dependent variable was the mean duration of a model look in the trials (look duration). The longer they looked at the models meant they spent longer time memorizing the models during each look. We hypothesized that as the angle of the models increased, participants would move their eyes, head, and body less frequently to look at the models, but the duration of each look would increase as they needed to encode the models in memory. However, when models were more difficult to memorize, the participants might spend less time memorizing the models each time, instead choosing to look at the models more frequently to acquire the information needed to copy.

To answer the second question on the eye-head-body coordination, we measured the eye-head-body rotations when participants looked at the models at different angles. Specifically, we calculated the eye rotation within the head during the model looks using the head-mounted eye tracking data. Two inertial measurement units (IMUs) were placed at the participants' forehead and the base of their neck to measure the head rotation within the body during the model looks. To estimate the body rotation relative to the space, we subtracted the sum of eye and head rotations from the angle of models. Knowing the eye, head, and body rotations, we examined the absolute degrees the eyes, head, and body moved to look at the models and their relative proportion in accomplishing the rotation. We hypothesized that as the angle of models increased, the eye, head, and body rotations would all increase, but by different rates. By each increase of 45° in the models, the body rotation would increase the most while the head rotation would increase less and the eye rotation the least. That is, body movements would account for an ever-larger proportion in the rotation as the participants needed to look at the models at larger angles.

### 2.4 Method

#### 2.4.1 Participants and Design

Twenty-eight college students (14 males, 14 females, M age = 19.7 years, SD = 1.91) participated in the study. All participants had normal or corrected to the normal vision and were not color blind. One participant was left-hand dominant and the remaining

participants were right-hand dominant. They were recruited from the introductory psychology class at the University of California, Riverside and received course credit for their participation in the study. Participants described their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latinx (14) or not Hispanic/Latinx (13); one participant chose not to answer. Participants described their race as Black (2), White (4), More than One Race (4), Asian (11), Pacific Islander (1), and Other (4); two chose not to answer. Four other participants were run but excluded from the study due to technical problems affecting the eye tracking and/or motion tracking (e.g. poor pupil detection, motion sensors stopped recording). A sensitivity analysis indicated that the final sample size had 95% statistical power to detect an medium effect size of d =.52 for the analyses.

This study used a within-subject design where each participant completed 16 trials of the model-copying task in a 60-min session. Two within-subject factors were the angle of the model ( $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ , or  $180^{\circ}$ ) and the difficulty of the patterns (same-colored or multi-colored). Four random orders of the trials (2 instances of each angle-difficulty pairing) were generated and alternately used among participants.

#### 2.4.2 Apparatus

The experimental setup is shown in Figure 4.1. Participants stood in front of a music stand which held the *workspace*: an empty  $4 \times 4$  grid with 8 magnets provided for participants to copy the model. The magnets were placed on the side of the grid corresponding to the participant's dominant hand. The *model* was displayed on another music stand which was positioned at the angle of  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ , or  $180^{\circ}$  to the left or right side of the participant. The distance from the participants to the workspace was 35.56 cm



Figure 2.1: An example trial in which the multi-colored model was positioned at  $90^{\circ}$  on the right side.

(the line 'a'), and was 66.04 cm to the model (the line 'b'). The height of the workspace and model were adjusted to the participant's chest level. The models had two levels of difficulty: the easy level was composed of 8 magnets of the same color (green, blue, pink, or yellow); and the difficult level was composed of 8 magnets of 4 different colors with 2 magnets each color. Two wall-mounted security cameras (on the participants' left and right sides) recorded the third-person view videos.

To capture eye movements, participants wore a Positive Science head-mounted eye tracker (Figure 3.2). The eye tracker has two cameras: a *scene camera* positioned over participants' right eye recording the participants' first-person field of view, and an *eye camera* that points to the participants' right eye and records the eye movements. The two cameras are mounted on a lightweight eyeglass frame. The videos recorded by the two cameras (sampling rate 30 Hz) were streamed to a recording device attached to the shoulder band worn by participants.



Figure 2.2: Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck were attached to a headband and a shoulder band.

To capture head movements, participants wore two wireless STT Systems IWS inertial measurement units (IMUs) (dimensions:  $56 \times 38 \times 18$  mm, 46 g): one on the forehead (attached to a head band), the other on the neck (attached to a shoulder band) at the C7 vertebrae (Figure 3.2). The IMUs streamed acceleration and gyroscope data at a rate of 400 Hz over WiFi to the STT software installed on a laptop, which recorded the data.

#### 2.4.3 Procedure

In the 1-hour long session, participants were instructed to complete the modelcopying task, before and after which they completed brief calibration for the eye tracker and IMUs.

#### Calibration and Synchronization for the Eye Tracker and IMUs

After giving consent, participants put on a shoulder band, a head band, and the eye tracker. The experimenter adjusted the cameras of the eye tracker to ensure the scene camera would capture the participant's first-person field of view and the eye camera would capture the pupil and corneal reflection no matter how participants moved their eyes. The experimenter attached the IMUs to the headband and shoulder band worn by the participants and ensured they were at the correct positions and orientation.

To calibrate the eye tracker, participants stood 35 cm away from a cardboard poster (76 cm  $\times$  51 cm), which was put on the music stand. Nine targets (2.5  $\times$  2.5 cm) were drawn on the board: 4 at the corners, 4 at the midpoints of each edge, and 1 at the center. Participants were asked to move their eyes to look at specific targets while keeping their head still. The eye tracker measured the rotations of eyes while participants were looking at different targets in the field of view and determined the gaze direction in pixels relative to the scene camera video. The same calibration procedure was repeated in the middle and end of the model-copying task to ensure the accuracy of eye tracking throughout the session.

To calibrate the IMUs and to synchronize with the eye tracking data for subsequent analyses, participants were asked to look forward, keep the chin parallel to the floor and still for a while, and then quickly turn the head to the left and right. These motions created identifiable moments in the IMU data to be synchronized with the eye tracking data. The experimenter checked the visualization of the IMUs data on the software to ensure it showed the correct motions.
#### Model-Copying Task

Participants completed two practice trials and 16 experimental trials of the modelcopying task. Sixteen different configurations of the model patterns (8 same-colored and 8 multi-colored) were randomly created by a computer script. One same-colored and one multi-colored patterns were randomly assigned to each model position (4 angles  $\times$  2 sides). In each trial, participants were required to copy the model correctly while standing at a designated spot on the floor (the wrongly copied trials were excluded from the data analyses). They were also required to pick up one magnet at one time with the dominant hand. They faced toward the workspace at the beginning of each trial but were allowed to freely turn their head, body, and feet to look at the model as many times as they needed while copying the model. They were reminded to close their eyes while the experimenters changed the model between trials.

## 2.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses

First, the eye rotation in each frame of the scene videos (in unit of pixels) was calculated from the eye and scene videos recorded by the eye tracker using the software Yarbus (Positive Science). The time series of horizontal eye rotation in pixels were then converted to degrees based on the camera's horizontal field of view and lens correction, as in [45].

Second, the acceleration and gyroscope data recorded by the IMUs were used to calculate the time series of horizontal head rotation in degrees relative to the base of the neck by the software iSen (STT Systems).



Figure 2.3: The eye tracker videos were synchronized with the time series of horizontal eye and head rotations. Left: One frame taken from the eye tracker videos (the eye video was imposed over the scene video on the top left corner). The bulls-eye showed the participant's gaze landed on the model which was positioned at 90° to the participant's right hand side. Right: The time series of eye (upper) and head (lower) rotations in degrees, with positive values on the y-axis indicating rotations to the observer's right. The x-axis is time with positive values indicating the future and negative values indicating the past. The red vertical lines mark the current time (0), which corresponds to the video frame shown on the left.

Third, to synchronize the eye tracking and IMU data, the experimenter identified the sharp head turns participants made during calibration in the time series of IMU data and the corresponding moments in the scene videos (quick shifts of field of view). The experimenter marked down the times of the head turns and the frame numbers in the videos and then converted the times series to the unit of frames in a Matlab script. Figure 2.3 showed the synchronized data of eye, head rotations and the eye and scene videos.

After synchronization, for each frame of the trials in the scene videos, two independent coders tagged each instance of gazing at the model. The inter-rater reliability was 95.4%. If the participants' eye gaze fell within the area of model in the field of view for at least 2 frames (allowing 1 frame off or a blink in between), a *model look* was defined (Figure 2.3). Once the model looks were defined, we calculated five outcome variables for different trials:

- 1. *Number of looks*: the total number of model looks in a trial. The larger the number of looks is, the more frequently the participants moved their eyes, head, and body to look at the models (expending greater effort).
- 2. Look duration: the duration of an average model look in a trial. This variable was calculated by calculating the mean duration of all model looks in a trial (in unit of frames then converted to seconds). Longer average look durations suggest that participants spent longer in memorizing the models.
- 3. Eye rotation: the mean of the horizontal eye rotation during model looks in a trial. Note that the absolute values of the eye rotation were used in the calculation to avoid the opposite signs of the degrees (positive if to the right and negative if to the left) cancelling each other out.
- 4. *Head rotation*: the mean of the horizontal head rotation during model looks in a trial. Similarly, the absolute values of the head rotation were used in the calculation.
- 5. *Body rotation* was estimated by subtracting eye and head rotations from the angle for the trial and then taking the absolute values.

For statistical analyses, linear mixed-effect models (LMMs) were first applied to test the effects of model side (2 levels, left and right), angle (4 levels,  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ ,  $180^{\circ}$ ), and difficulty (2 levels, easy and difficult) on the number of looks and look duration using the *lme4* [11] package in R [110]. The side, angle, and difficulty were included as fixed effects and participant as a random effect in the LMMs (random slope models failed to converge). Results showed there was no interaction between side and angle/difficulty. More importantly, we were mainly interested in how angle and difficulty affected the motormemory trade-off and eye-head-body movements. Therefore, we collapsed side and only tested the effects of angle and difficulty in the analyses reported below.

To understand the effects of angle and difficulty on the eye-head-body coordination, two 3-way LMMs predicting the rotation (in degree) and proportion (%) separately were calculated with angle, difficulty, and segment (eye, head, and body) as the independent variables. For all analyses, ANOVAs were used to test significance of main effects and interactions from the LMMs using the *lmerTest* package in R [83]. Degrees of freedom were determined by the Satterthwaite approximation [117, 92]. Follow-up pairwise comparisons used the Holm-Bonferroni correction to adjust for multiple comparisons.

## 2.5 Results

## 2.5.1 Motor Effort and Memorization Difficulty Affected Motor-Memory Trade-Off

The number of looks decreased as the angle of the model became larger (Figure 2.4A). That is, the participants moved their eyes, head, and body less frequently to look at the model if the models were positioned at larger angles that required greater rotations. Instead, they spent longer to look at and memorize the models (Figure 2.4B). However, as the model became difficult to remember, participants relied on more frequent eye-head-body movements to gather information about the models rather than using memory. Descriptive statistics are shown in Table 2.2.



Figure 2.4: The number of looks (A) and mean look duration (B) across angle and difficulty.

		Numb	er of Lo	Look Duration			
	df	F	p		F	p	
Angle	3	77.38	<.001	***	35.09	<.001	***
Difficulty	1	145.01	< .001	***	22.91	< .001	***
Angle $\times$ Difficulty	3	3.35	.020	*	.59	.620	n.s.
*p < .05, **p < .01, *	**p<	<.001					

Table 2.1: Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks and look duration from angle and difficulty.

Table 2.2: Descriptive statistics (M and SD) for the number of looks and look duration (in second) by angle and difficulty.

	Number	of Looks	Look Duration			
	Easy	Difficult	Easy	Difficult		
$45^{\circ}$	6.00(1.86)	8.84(2.78)	.75(.43)	.61(.35)		
$90^{\circ}$	4.00(1.67)	5.46(1.69)	1.13(.67)	.87(.54)		
$135^{\circ}$	3.71(1.46)	5.61(2.04)	1.25(.88)	1.03(.53)		
$180^{\circ}$	3.32(1.18)	5.14(1.34)	1.57(1.12)	1.23(.60)		

The results of the LMM predicting the number of looks showed significant main effects of angle and difficulty and a significant interaction effect (Table 2.1). To follow up on the angle × difficulty interaction, pairwise comparisons between adjacent angles within each difficulty condition suggested that the number of looks at 45° was significantly greater than that at 90° for the easy (t(188) = 6.104, p < .001) and difficult levels (t(188) =10.300, p < .001). The larger drop in the number of looks from 45° to 90° at the difficult level compared to the easy level resulted in the angle × difficulty interaction. There was no difference in the number of looks between 90° and 135° or between 135° and 180° for either difficult level. Nevertheless, participants looked at the model more frequently in the difficult condition at every angle.

The results of the LMM predicting mean look duration only showed significant main effects of angle and difficulty (Table 2.1), indicating that participants looked at the models for longer period of time when the models were at larger angles and when models were easy to remember. The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 2.2. Follow-up pairwise comparison between adjacent angles showed an increase in the look duration from 45° to  $90^{\circ}$  (t(188) = -4.538, p < .001), from  $90^{\circ}$  to  $135^{\circ}$  (t(188) = -1.997, p = .047), and from  $135^{\circ}$  to  $180^{\circ}$  (t(188) = -3.533, p = .001). Thus, unlike number of looks which changed from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  but not beyond  $90^{\circ}$ , look duration showed progressive increases with each  $45^{\circ}$ increase in model angle.

## 2.5.2 Eye-Head-Body Coordination Differed Across Angles

As Figure 2.5A shows, the eye, head, and body rotations all increased as the angle of the models increased, but each segment (eyes, head, or body) increased at different rates. The body rotation increased most and sharply; the head rotation first increased quickly then slowed down; whereas the eye rotation remained almost the same across the 4 angles. Proportionally, the contribution of the eye movement to the gaze shifts decreased as the angle increased (Figure 2.5B). The contribution of the head movement first increased and then slightly decreased. The contribution of the body movement, however, kept rising. It implied that the participants mainly moved the eyes to look at the models at small angles. As larger movements were required to look at the models, the participants then relied more on head and body movements.

The results of the LMMs (Table 2.3) predicting the rotation showed main effects of angle (4 levels:  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ ,  $180^{\circ}$ ) and segment (3 levels: eye, head, body) and an interaction between angle and segment. To follow up on the interaction (Table 3.3), pairwise



Figure 2.5: A: The average eye, head, and body rotations at different angles. B: The proportion that the eye, head, and body movements contributed to the gaze shifts as the angle increased. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

	Rotation			Proportion			
	df	F	p		F	p	
Angle	3	469.53	<.001	***	12.13	<.001	***
Difficulty	1	.01	.925	n.s.	.03	.862	n.s.
Segment	2	148.82	<.001	***	29.23	<.001	***
Angle $\times$ Difficulty	3	.00	1.000	n.s.	.01	.998	n.s.
Angle $\times$ Segment	6	99.41	<.001	***	84.60	<.001	***
Difficulty $\times$ Segment	2	.21	.807	n.s.	1.09	.336	n.s.
Angle $\times$ Difficulty $\times$ Segment	6	.38	.895	n.s.	.86	.526	n.s.
p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001							

Table 2.3: Summary of LMM results predicting rotation and proportion from angle, difficulty, and segment.

comparisons showed: at 45°, the eye rotation was greater than the head (t(618) = 4.833, p < .001) and body rotations (t(618) = 4.700, p < .001) but there was no difference between the head and body rotations (t(618) = -.133, p = .894); at 90° the eye rotation was slightly smaller than the head rotation (t(618) = -2.618, p = .027), but there was no difference between the eye and body rotations (t(618) = -1.027, p = .305) or between the head and body rotations (t(618) = 1.591, p = .224); at 135° the eye rotation was significantly smaller than the head (t(618) = -10.418, p < .001) and body rotations (t(618) = -11.264, p < .001)but there was no difference between the head and body rotations (t(618) = -.846, p = .398); at 180° the eye rotation was far smaller than the head (t(618) = -13.355, p < .001) and body rotations (t(618) = -26.342, p < .001) and the head rotation was smaller than the body rotation as well (t(618) = -12.987, p < .001). The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 2.5.

The results of the LMMs (Table 2.3) predicting the proportion showed the main effects of angle and segment and an interaction between angle and segment. To follow up

Table 2.4: Pairwise comparisons between segments for each angle.

	Absolute Rotation
$45^{\circ}$	Eye > Head = Body
$90^{\circ}$	Eye < Head, Head = Body, Eye = Body
$135^{\circ}$	Eye < Head, $Head = Body$ , $Eye < Body$
$180^{\circ}$	Eye < Head < Body

Table 2.5: Descriptive statistics (M and SD) for the rotation (in degree) and proportion by angle and segment. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

		Rotation	Proportion			
	Eye	Head	Body	Eye	Head	Body
$45^{\circ}$	24.03(4.77)	14.04(5.87)	14.32(5.58)	.53(.11)	.31(.13)	.32(.12)
$90^{\circ}$	28.04(5.85)	33.45(9.22)	30.16(11.05)	.31(.06)	.37(.10)	.34(.12)
$135^{\circ}$	30.07(5.64)	51.59(10.81)	53.34(14.47)	.22(.04)	.38(.08)	.40(.11)
180°	32.41(7.86)	60.26(15.22)	87.33(20.95)	.18(.04)	.33(.08)	.49(.12)

the interaction (Table 3.5), pairwise comparisons showed that: the proportion that the eyes contributed to the gaze shifts decreased significantly from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  (t(618) = 11.939, p < .001), from  $90^{\circ}$  to  $135^{\circ}$  (t(618) = 4.770, p < .001), and from  $135^{\circ}$  to  $180^{\circ}$  (t(618) = 2.280, p = .023); the proportion of head rotation increased from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  (t(618) = -3.198, p = .007), plateaued from  $90^{\circ}$  to  $135^{\circ}$  (t(618) = -.563, p = .574), and slightly dropped from  $135^{\circ}$  to  $180^{\circ}$  (t(618) = 2.533, p = .046); the proportion of body rotation remained similarly low from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  (t(618) = -.910, p = .363), but increased from  $90^{\circ}$  to  $135^{\circ}$  (t(618) = -3.218, p = .003), and from  $135^{\circ}$  to  $180^{\circ}$  (t(618) = -4.813, p < .001). The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 2.5.

Table 2.6: Pairwise comparisons between angles for each segment based on the proportion of each gaze shift.

	Proportion
Eye	$45^{\circ} > 90^{\circ} > 135^{\circ} > 180^{\circ}$
Head	$45^{\circ} < 90^{\circ} = 135^{\circ},  135^{\circ} > 180^{\circ}$
Body	$45^{\circ} = 90^{\circ} < 135^{\circ} < 180^{\circ}$

## 2.6 Discussion

In this study, we investigated the trade-off between using motor effort to visually explore versus cognitive effort to memorize the model in the block-copying task, and how that trade-off related to eye-head-body movements and memorization difficulty. We found that people coordinated their eyes, head, and body differently to look at models at different angles. The eyes contributed more to small gaze shifts but the head and body contributed more as the gaze shift amplitude increased [47, 67, 109, 120]. This means that even across equally-spaced 45° increases in angle, the increase in effort was not equal because each angle incurred different relative contributions from lower-effort eye movements compared with higher-effort head and body movements. The resulting motor effort of looking influenced how people completed the copying task: they turned their eyes, head, and body more frequently to visually explore the models at  $45^{\circ}$  compared to the larger degrees (90°, 135°, and  $180^{\circ}$ ); however, they spent longer in memorizing the models as the angle increased in each  $45^{\circ}$  increment (from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $180^{\circ}$ ). Memorization difficulty also affected the trade-off such that people used more memory when the models were easy to remember. Memorization difficulty interacted with motor effort for the number of looks such that participants excessively looked at difficult models at 45°. But memorization difficulty did not interact with the motor effort for the look duration nor impact how people coordinated the eyes, head, and body to look at the models.

Consistent with previous studies [9, 8, 26, 85, 55, 59], we found that people adapt the motor-memory trade-off to different task conditions. That is, they looked more frequently when the eye-head-body movements were less effortful or when memorization was more difficult. In this study we extended the maximum target angle to  $180^{\circ}$  (the largest amplitude in the previous studies was  $135^{\circ}$  [9, 26]), which resulted in dramatically different eye-head-body coordination but had a modest effect on the motor-memory trade-off compared with  $135^{\circ}$ . Participants turned their eyes, head, and body very frequently to look at the models at  $45^{\circ}$ , but the frequency of eye-head-body movements to look at the model remained similar across  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ , and  $180^{\circ}$  angles. Yet, despite the stability of number of looks over this range, the mean duration of model looks did significantly increase from  $90^{\circ}$ until  $180^{\circ}$ . One possibility is that the eyes, head, and body need more time to change the state of rotational motion and stabilize the gaze for visual processing when making large gaze shifts. Alternatively, as the time of gaze shifts increased, participants may need longer to encode and rehearse the information in the memory to resist memory decay. These possibilities should be tested in future work.

Overall, memorization difficulty affected the number of looks and look duration but did not affect the motor-memory trade-off qualitatively. In other words, participants tended to move the eyes, head, and body frequently to look when the gaze shift amplitude was small regardless of the memorization difficulty, even though they could potentially use more memory to improve efficiency when the models were easier to memorize. It seemed that motor effort has a more pronounced effect on the motor-memory trade-off than memorization difficulty.

This is the first study to examine the eye-head-body coordination in the blockcopying task. The current study demonstrated that each  $45^{\circ}$  increase in angle did not produce an equivalent change in effort. Although each segment (eyes, head, and body) increased in rotation as angles increased, the coordination among the eyes, head, and body at different angles were complex—the eyes contributed most to the gaze shifts when the amplitude was small; but even before the eyes reached the oculomotor limit, the head became increasingly involved; at larger angles, the body overtook the head in contributing the most for the largest gaze shifts.

How might the differential contribution of low-effort eye movements versus higheffort head/body movements relate to the motor-memory trade-off? Referring to Figure 2.4A and Figure 2.5A, the results showed that the big drop of the number of looks (between  $45^{\circ}$  and  $90^{\circ}$ ) did not coincide with the sharp increase of the body rotation (between  $135^{\circ}$  and 180°). Instead, it co-occurred with the big increase in the head movement. In other words, the change in body movement did not affect the motor-memory trade-off much even though the body movement is more costly compared to head movement. Participants changed their strategy in copying the model by increasing the memory use once head movement was required to look at the models. This implies that the motor effort of eye movement is treated as distinct from the efforts of head and body movements by observers. Participants were more willing to move the eyes back and forth than moving both the head and the body probably because of the short time scale of saccadic eye movements (about 300 ms) [10]. But note that the current study only explored the eye-head-body movements underlying the motor-memory trade-off observed in a copying task. Future work should investigate how visual exploration relates to the effort of underlying effector movements across different tasks.

We acknowledge several limitations in our study. First, the unavailability of a fullbody motion capture system made it impossible to track the rotations of trunk and feet. Body rotations were estimated by subtracting the eye and head rotations from the model angle. Although not ideal, this approximation could still shed light on the body movement in the copying task. Second, there were individual differences in how participants traded off between motor effort and use of memory. It was possible that individuals with higher memory capacity might choose to rely more on memory. Future studies could investigate the impact of memory capacity on the motor-memory trade-off. Last, we did not directly measure the energetic cost of the eye-head-body movements. A recent study showed that people did not spontaneously select the walking speed, step length and width that cost less energy while walking [5]. Likewise, we are unsure whether participants coordinated their eyes, head, and body in a way that was energetically optimal in the block-copying task.

In sum, this study enhanced our understanding of the motor-memory trade-off by investigating the underlying eye-head-body movements that guided looking in the blockcopying task. We found that the eyes, head, and body coordinated differently when looking at different angles, resulting in varying motor effort. Future studies should further examine the interaction between the motor and cognitive systems.

# Chapter 3

# How Do People Change Motor-Memory Trade-Off Spontaneously with Practice?

## 3.1 Abstract

Previous studies have shown that people trade off between expending motor effort and using memory when completing a copying task that requires looking in different directions to gather information. For example, people tend to rely on memory less when making gaze shifts is less effortful (i.e. of small amplitude), but use memory more when the head and body movements are required to make large, effortful gaze shifts. However, it is unknown how people might change the motor-memory trade-off after repeated practice with the task. Would they choose a certain strategy and execute it more efficiently with practice? Or would they discover a different strategy—using more memory rather than motor effort, over the course of practicing the task? To answer these questions, participants were asked to do a copying task repeatedly while wearing a mobile eye tracker and motion sensors. Participants' eye-head-body movements, and the frequency and duration of their visual exploration were recorded over the course of multiple trials. The results showed that participants increasingly used memory to reduce motor effort in the task, leading to improved efficiency.

## 3.2 Introduction

Suppose you received a code on your phone to login an account. Would you unlock your phone, open the message, and copy the code or would you memorize the code shown on the banner before it disappeared and then enter the code? This example illustrates the trade off between motor effort—opening the message to look at it–and use of memory. What you would do may depend on how effortful it is to open the message, for example, using face ID versus entering password on the screen, and how difficult it is to memorize the code accurately, for example, a 4-digit code versus a 10-digit code. Previous studies have showed that different task conditions, such as the cost of motor movements [9, 26, 55, 70], difficulty of memorization [93, 85, 59], time constraints [68], the cost of making errors [68, 106], the exposure to prior training [106] etc., affected the motor-memory trade-off. However, how people would change the trade-off over the course of practicing the task is unknown. What is the temporal change in people's decisions about whether to expend more motor effort or use memory over repeated performance of the same task? People adjust their performance not only to different task conditions but also over the course of doing the task. For example, it has been well-documented in prior literature that participants improved performance spontaneously after repeated practice in a variety of perceptual-motor and cognitive tasks [31, 132, 73, 53, 4, 64, 112, 135, 15]. For example, novice participants improved performance in complex dance moves within an hour in a lab study [29]. Participants improved performance in different memory tests after practice [108, 79, 80, 119, 28]. Both short-term and long-term effects were observed—the improvement in performance after practice retained over short and long period of time [64, 108, 76]. However, the separate practice effects found in pure perceptual-motor tasks and pure cognitive tasks may not directly apply to the motor-memory trade-off, in which motor and cognitive systems dynamically interact with each other. How might people adjust the motor-memory trade-off with repeated practice? Do they improve task performance by executing the same strategy more efficiently? Or do they change the strategy, such as by more memory?

## 3.2.1 Trading Off Between Motor Effort and Memory

Previous studies have shown people tend to rely on motor effort in the motormemory trade-off [9, 26, 93, 85]. Participants chose to move their eyes and head more frequently [9, 26, 93, 85], walk for longer distance [59], or carry boxes [38, 39, 37] rather than memorizing information. In our prior work, participants were asked to copy models positioned at different angles around them [93]. Their eye-head-body movements were recorded while copying the models. The results showed that participants moved their eyes, head, and body to look at the models frequently when the models were positioned at a small angle. They could improve the task efficiency by memorizing more information on the models to reduce the times of looking back and forth. But they did not do so. Although each model look was a low effort, by repeatedly looking to the model rather than memorizing, participants expended a high amount of unnecessary effort over the course of each trial.

One possible explanation for their inefficiency was that participants did not have enough practice to discover a more efficient way of completing the task. Would people change their motor-memory trade-off with repeated practice in the copying task? How might they change to improve efficiency? Do they improve by moving their eyes, head, and body more efficiently or using more memory? Those questions remained unknown.

## Eye-Head-Body Coordination

Regarding the perceptual-motor performance, how might participants improve with repeated practice in the copying task? First, participants might improve the speed of moving their eyes, head, and body. Previous studies showed that participants decreased the latency of movements, moved faster, and had less errors in key-pressing, throwing, and kicking tasks [20, 19, 96, 21, 53]. It is possible that participants will rotate their eyes, head, and body more quickly in the copying task to improve efficiency with practice by making the same movements take less time.

Second, participants might change the eye-head-body coordination with repeated practice to make lower-cost movements do more of the total work. A prior study showed that participants restricted head movement at the beginning of a large-scale searching task but learned to coordinate the eyes and head later in the task [33]. It is possible that in the copying task participants might increase the proportion of eye and head movements to reduce costly body movements to improve efficiency. As a result, one aim of the current study was to record the movements of eyes, head, and body and investigate how they change with practice.

#### Strategy Change

In addition to the change in eye-head-body movements, participants might also improve cognitive performance with practice [57, 66, 107, 119, 28]. For instance, previous studies showed that participants responded faster and faster in recognizing and generating words in memory tests [108, 79, 80, 119, 28]. Participants made better decisions in a gambling game with practice [100]. Less time was required to solve arithmetic questions if participants were exposed to the similar questions before [89].

However, the findings about practice effects on strategy change are mixed. Some studies showed that participants stuck with their initial strategy, which could be inefficient, without adapting it to the changing task conditions over time. For example, in a prior study [90], participants were instructed to earn points by doing a visual search task. The quicker they achieved the goal points, the earlier they completed the task. Before each trial, participants were allowed to choose the difficulty level, which determined the points and penalty if making errors. The results showed that participants tended to make the same decision even though the task conditions subtly changed and they made more errors later. That is, their initial decision was no longer adaptive but they failed to monitor their performance. However, some other studies suggested the opposite. In a problemsolving task, without even receiving hints participants shifted to more efficient strategies after repeated trials [121]. Participants adopted a memory-based strategy in an associative learning task [82]. Children demonstrated strategy change as well in solving mathematical problems [89, 2].

Indeed, changing strategies come with a cost. Cognitive resources, such as memory, are limited, fragile, and expensive [98, 23, 61, 14]. There are limitations on the amount of information people could store and process in the memory [98, 23]. The information held in the memory may become inaccessible or inaccurate with time [61]. The overload of memory may impede other perceptual-motor or cognitive performance [14]. Also, changing strategies may be time-consuming and risky [90, 87, 121, 2]. Would people change their strategy—using more memory in the copying task? It is unclear because the cognitive system interacts with the motor system in the copying task. People could change the way they coordinate the eyes, head, and body to save effort so that they do not need to spend time exploring or changing different strategies. The change in strategies has to be efficient enough in saving effort to compete with the motor system given people predominantly tend to use more motor effort. Thus, the second aim of the current study was to determine whether people use more memory with practice over time.

## 3.3 Current Study

The current study focused on the practice effects on the motor-memory trade-off. Specifically, we investigated whether participants changed their eye-head-body coordination and/or copying strategy with repeated practice in the copying task [93]. Two research questions were asked:

1. Did participants change how they coordinated the eyes, head, and body over trials?

2. Did participants change their copying strategy to use more memory over trials?

To answer the first question, the movements of eyes, head, and body were recorded throughout the study. The absolute rotations of each segment (eye, head, and body) when participants looked at the models and the proportion each segment contributed to the gaze shifts were calculated to investigate the coordination among the three segments. Then we examined whether the rotations and corresponding proportions changed as participants did the copying task over repeated trials. We hypothesized that participants would adjust the eye-head-body coordination by increasing the proportion of relatively low-effort eye/head movements and decreasing the proportion of high-effort body movements. They would maximize the eye and head rotations to reduce body rotations when copying models at large angles.

To answer the second research question, we measured how many times participants looked at the model (i.e. *number of looks*) as an indicator of motor effort, and the mean duration each time participants looked at the model (i.e. *mean look duration*) as an indicator of memory use. We also calculated the total time participants spent in completing each trial (i.e. *trial duration*), and the proportion of time they spent looking at the models within a trial (i.e. *look proportion*) as measures of task efficiency. We examined how the motor-memory trade-off and task efficiency changed over trials. We hypothesized that participants would increasingly use more memory over trials to improve efficiency. Specifically, the number of looks should decrease while the mean look duration should increase; if so, the overall efficiency will increase as evidenced by decreases in trial duration (faster is better) and look proportion (spending less time looking at the model is better). Changes in efficiency should be greater for larger angles when the cost of movement is greatest.

The task, key apparatus, and procedure were the same as in [93]. But unlike the prior study [93] where the model for each trial was positioned at a random combination of angle and side, in the current study participants were assigned to only one of the angle conditions (i.e.  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ ,  $180^{\circ}$ ) and copied models of varying patterns at the assigned angle on the dominant-hand side for 16 trials. By doing so, we controlled the motor difficulty over trials and investigated if participants changed their eye-head-body coordination or motor-memory trade-off with practice.

## 3.4 Method

### 3.4.1 Participants and Design

Sixty-two college students were recruited from the introductory psychology class at the University of California, Riverside and received course credit for their participation in the study. The eye tracking videos of 11 participants were not recorded due to recording device failure. Another three participants were excluded due to poor pupil capture. The final sample for the eye tracking data analyses was 48 participants (17 males, 25 females, and 6 other, M age = 19.31 years, SD age = 1.50), 9 for the angle of 45°, 15 for 90°, 10 for 135°, and 14 for 180°. All participants had normal or corrected to normal vision and were not color blind. Forty-four participants were right-handed, three left-handed, and one ambidextrous. Participants described their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latinx (17) or not Hispanic/Latinx (24); seven participants chose not to answer. Participants described their race as Asian (16), White (10), American Indian/Alaska Native (8), More than One Race (2), and Other (4); eight chose not to answer.

Among the 48 participants, 11 participants were further excluded from the analyses of eye-head-body coordination based on the quality of the motion tracking data. Ten were due to the synchronization problems between eye tracking and motion tracking data; 1 was due to the malfunction of the motion sensors. As a result, the final sample for the motion tracking data analyses was 37 participants (15 males, 16 females, and 6 other, M age = 19.11 years, SD age = 1.43). Among them 9 copied models at the angle of 45°, 11 at 90°, 9 at 135°, and 8 at 180°.

This study used a mixed design. The between-subject factor was the angle at which the model was positioned. Participants were alternately assigned to one of the angles  $(45^{\circ}, 90^{\circ}, 135^{\circ}, 180^{\circ})$  and copied the models positioned at the assigned angle on the dominanthand side for 16 trials. The within-subject factor was trial number. We assessed the changes in the number of looks, look duration, and trial duration from trial to trial, and also measured the eye, head, and body rotation while participants looked at the models.

#### 3.4.2 Apparatus

The experimental setup was the same as in [93] Figure 4.1. Participants stood in front of a music stand which held the *workspace*: an empty  $4 \times 4$  grid with 8 magnets provided for participants to copy the model. The magnets were placed on the side of the grid corresponding to the participant's dominant hand. The *model* was displayed on another music stand which was positioned at the angle of  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ , or  $180^{\circ}$  to the left or right side of the participant. The distance from the participants to the workspace was



Figure 3.1: An example trial in which the model was positioned at  $90^{\circ}$  on the right side.

35.56 cm (the line 'a'), and was 66.04 cm to the model (the line 'b'). The height of the workspace and model were adjusted to the participant's chest level. The model had a set of 16 different multi-colored patterns (4 colors, 2 magnets each color), which were generated by a computer script and used across all participants in the same order. Two wall-mounted security cameras (on the participants' left and right sides) recorded the third-person view videos.

To capture eye movements, participants wore a Positive Science head-mounted eye tracker (Figure 3.2). The eye tracker has two cameras: a *scene camera* positioned over participants' right eye recording the participants' first-person field of view, and an *eye camera* that points to the participants' right eye and records the eye movements. The two cameras are mounted on a lightweight eyeglass frame. The videos recorded by the two cameras (sampling rate 30 Hz) were streamed to a recording device attached to the shoulder band worn by participants.



Figure 3.2: Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck were attached to a headband and a shoulder band.

To capture head movements, participants wore two wireless STT Systems IWS inertial measurement units (IMUs) (dimensions:  $56 \times 38 \times 18$  mm, 46 g): one on the forehead (attached to a head band), the other on the neck (attached to a shoulder band) at the C7 vertebrae (Figure 3.2). The IMUs streamed acceleration and gyroscope data at a rate of 400 Hz over WiFi to the STT software installed on a laptop, which recorded the data.

## 3.4.3 Procedure

The procedure was similar to [93]. In the 1-hour long session, participants were instructed to complete the model-copying task, before and after which they completed brief calibration for the eye tracker and IMUs.

#### Calibration and Synchronization for the Eye Tracker and IMUs

After giving consent, participants put on a shoulder band, a head band, and the eye tracker. The experimenter adjusted the cameras of the eye tracker to ensure the scene camera would capture the participant's first-person field of view and the eye camera would capture the pupil and corneal reflection no matter how participants moved their eyes. The experimenter attached the IMUs to the headband and shoulder band worn by the participants and ensured they were at the correct positions and orientation.

To calibrate the eye tracker, participants stood 35 cm away from a cardboard poster (76 cm  $\times$  51 cm), which was put on the music stand. Nine targets (2.5  $\times$  2.5 cm) were drawn on the board: 4 at the corners, 4 at the midpoints of each edge, and 1 at the center. Participants were asked to move their eyes to look at specific targets while keeping their head still. The eye tracker measured the rotations of eyes while participants were looking at different targets in the field of view and determined the gaze direction in pixels relative to the scene camera video. The same calibration procedure was repeated in the middle and end of the model-copying task to ensure the accuracy of eye tracking throughout the session.

To calibrate the IMUs and to synchronize with the eye tracking data for subsequent analyses, participants were asked to look forward, keep the chin parallel to the floor and still for a while, and then quickly turn the head to the left and right. These motions created identifiable moments in the IMU data to be synchronized with the eye tracking data. The experimenter checked the visualization of the IMUs data on the software to ensure it showed the correct motions.

#### Model-Copying Task

Participants completed two practice trials and 16 experimental trials of the modelcopying task. A set of 16 different configurations of the model patterns were randomly created by a computer script and used across participants. The model was positioned on the side of the participant's dominant hand at the assigned angle  $(45^{\circ}, 90^{\circ}, 135^{\circ}, or$  $180^{\circ}$ ). In each trial, participants were required to copy the model correctly while standing at a designated spot on the floor (the wrongly copied trials were excluded from the data analyses). They were also required to pick up one magnet at one time with the dominant hand. They faced toward the workspace at the beginning of each trial but were allowed to freely turn their head, body, and feet to look at the model as many times as they needed while copying the model. They were reminded to close their eyes while the experimenters changed the model between trials.

## 3.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses

Synchronizing the data collected from the eye tracker and IMUs was conducted as in [93].

First, the eye rotation in each frame of the scene videos (in unit of pixels) was calculated from the eye and scene videos recorded by the eye tracker using the software Yarbus (Positive Science). The time series of horizontal eye rotation in pixels were then converted to degrees based on the camera's horizontal field of view and lens correction, as in [45]. Second, the acceleration and gyroscope data recorded by the IMUs were used to calculate the time series of horizontal head rotation in degrees relative to the base of the neck by the software iSen (STT Systems).

Third, to synchronize the eye tracking and IMU data, the experimenter identified the sharp head turns participants made during calibration in the time series of IMU data and the corresponding moments in the scene videos (quick shifts of field of view). The experimenter marked down the times of the head turns and the frame numbers in the videos and then converted the times series to the unit of frames in a Matlab script.

After synchronization, for each frame of the trials in the scene videos, two independent coders tagged each instance of gazing at the model. If the participants' eye gaze fell within the area of model in the field of view for at least 2 frames (allowing 1 frame off or a blink in between), a *model look* was defined. The inter-rater reliability was high (97.69% agreement).

To answer the research questions, two sets of analyses were conducted. First, for the eye-head-body coordination data, two 3-way linear mixed-effect models (LMMs) predicting the rotation (in degree) and proportion (%) separately were calculated with angle (4 levels, 45°, 90°, 135°, 180°), trial (linear variable from 1 to 16), and segment (3 levels, eye, head, body) as the independent variables. The participant was included as a random effect in the LMMs. For example, the model used to test the effects on the rotation was: rotation ~ angle × trial × segment + (1 — participant).

Second, for the question of strategy change over trials, four 2-way LMMs were applied to test the effects of angle and trial on four dependent measures (i.e., number of looks, look duration, trial duration, look proportion) separately. Angle and trial were included as fixed effects, and participant was included as a random effect. For example, the model used to test the effects on the number of looks was: number of looks  $\sim$  angle  $\times$  trial + (1 — participant). The *lme4* [11] package in R [110] was used to calculate all LMMs. ANOVAs were used to test significance of main effects and interactions from the LMMs using the *lmerTest* package in R [83]. Degrees of freedom were determined by the Satterthwaite approximation [117, 92]. Follow-up pairwise comparisons used the Holm-Bonferroni correction to adjust for multiple comparisons.

## 3.5 Results

Two sets of results investigated the changes in eye-head-body coordination and the motor-memory trade-off over trials across angles.

## 3.5.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination

First, to examine if participants changed their eye-head-body coordination over trials, we calculated the mean rotation of eye, head, and body during each model look, and the proportion each segment contributed to make gaze shifts for each trial.

The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 3.1. Regarding the change over trials, eye rotations did not change over trials in any of the angle conditions; head rotation increased over trials at the 45° angle condition but remained the same for the other angles; body rotation decreased over trials at 45° and remained similar for the other angles. The results for the corresponding proportions showed the same trends (Figure 3.3). This implied

y ai	ngle an	d segment. No	ote that the pr	oportions were	e calculated	d at the tr	ial level, s	o the
ım	of mea	n proportions	is not equal to	one.				
			Rotation		P	Proportio	n	
		Eye	Head	Body	Eye	Head	Body	
	$45^{\circ}$	20.30(4.34)	10.02(7.44)	14.99(9.45)	.45(.10)	.22(.17)	.33(.21)	

31.41(11.12)

57.68(17.85)

89.10(18.37)

 $90^{\circ}$ 

 $135^{\circ}$ 

 $180^{\circ}$ 

31.01(6.36)

32.44(7.45)

31.89(8.42)

27.58(9.68)

44.88(13.90)

59.30(16.61)

.31(.11)

.33(.10)

.33(.09)

.35(.12)

.43(.13)

.50(.10)

.34(.07)

.24(.06)

.18(.05)

Table 3.1: Descriptive statistics (M and SD) for the rotation (in degree) and proportion by e su

that with repeated practice completing the task, participants adjusted the eye-head-body
coordination only in the small angle condition. They increased the head rotation to reduce
the body rotation, leading to decreased motor effort overall. However, they had less flex-
ibility in adjusting the eye-head-body coordination at large angles as they had to rely on
the body rotation to make gaze shifts, likely explaining why no change was observed.

Regarding the differences in coordination between angle conditions, results replicated [93] that the eye-head-body coordination differed as larger angles required larger shifts of gaze. As Figure 3.4A shows, the eye, head, and body rotations all increased as the angle of the models increased, but each segment (eye, head, or body) increased at different rates. The body rotation increased most; the head rotation increased moderately; the eve rotation increased from  $45^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$  and then remained almost the same across the larger angles. Proportionally, the contribution of eve movement to the gaze shifts decreased as the angle increased (Figure 3.4B). The contribution of head movement first increased and then remained stable. The contribution of body movement increased continuously. This implied that participants mainly moved the eyes to look at the models at small angles. When larger



Figure 3.3: Summaries of model predictions for the eye, head, and body proportions (separate colored lines) over trials (x-axis) for different angles.



Figure 3.4: A: The average eye, head, and body rotations at different angles. B: The proportion that the eye, head, and body movements contributed to the gaze shifts as the angle increased. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

movements were required to look at the models, the participants then relied more on head and body movements.

The results of the LMMs (Table 3.2) predicting the rotation showed main effects of angle (4 levels:  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ ,  $180^{\circ}$ ) and segment (3 levels: eye, head, body), an interaction between angle and segment, and an interaction between trial and segment. To follow up on the angle × segment interaction (Table 3.3), pairwise comparisons showed: at  $45^{\circ}$ , the eye (t(1696) = 7.503, p < .001) and body (t(1696) = 3.609, p < .001) rotations were greater than the head rotation, and the eye rotation was greater than the body rotation (t(1696) = 3.894, p < .001); at 90° the eye (t(1696) = 2.764, p = .012) and body (t(1696) = 3.078, p = .006) rotations were greater than the head rotation, but no difference between the eye and body rotation (t(1696) = .314, p = .754); at 135° the eye rotation was smaller than the head (t(1696) = -9.003, p < .001) and body rotations (t(1696) = -18.323, p < .001),

		Rotation			Proportion		
	df	F	p		F	p	
Angle	3	259.71	<.001	***	.00	1.000	n.s.
Trial	1	.02	.902	n.s.	.02	.889	n.s.
Segment	2	121.08	<.001	***	60.41	<.001	***
Angle $\times$ Trial	3	.01	.999	n.s.	.01	.999	n.s.
Angle $\times$ Segment	6	45.88	< .001	***	25.60	< .001	***
Trial $\times$ Segment	2	3.52	.030	*	6.34	.002	**
Angle $\times$ Trial $\times$ Segment	6	.15	.989	n.s.	1.35	.230	n.s.
$\bar{*p} < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001$							

Table 3.2: Summary of LMM results predicting rotation and proportion from angle, trial, and segment.

Table 3.3: Pairwise comparisons between segments for each angle.

	Rotation
$45^{\circ}$	Eye > Body > Head
$90^{\circ}$	Eye = Body > Head
$135^{\circ}$	Eye < Head < Body
$180^{\circ}$	Eye < Head < Body

and the head rotation was smaller than the body rotation (t(1696) = -9.320, p < .001); at 180° the eye rotation was smaller than the head (t(1696) = -18.790, p < .001) and body rotations (t(1696) = -38.898, p < .001), and the head rotation was smaller than the body rotation (t(1696) = -20.420, p < .001).

To follow up on the trial  $\times$  segment interaction, a LMM predicting the rotation from trial and segment was conducted separately for different angles. As Table 3.4) shows, for the angle of 45°, the results of LMM showed the main effect of segment and the interaction between trial and segment. To follow up on the trial  $\times$  segment interaction, the linear trend estimates showed similarity in the eye rotation over trials, an increase in the head rotation, and a decrease in the body rotation. However, the results of LMMs only showed

			$45^{\circ}$			<b>90</b> °	
	df	F	p		F	p	
Trial	1	.02	.891	n.s.	.00	1.000	n.s.
Segment	2	25.17	< .001	***	7.31	< .001	***
Trial $\times$ Segment	2	4.38	.013	*	2.46	.086	n.s.
*p < .05, **p < .01,	***1	0<.001					
			$135^{\circ}$			$180^{\circ}$	
	df	F	$egin{array}{c} {f 135^\circ} \ p \end{array}$		F	<b>180</b> ° <i>p</i>	
Trial	$\frac{df}{1}$	<i>F</i> .00	<b>135</b> ° <i>p</i> 1.000	n.s.	<i>F</i> .01	<b>180°</b> <i>p</i> .909	n.s.
Trial Segment	$\frac{df}{1}$	<i>F</i> .00 30.67	$135^{\circ}$ p 1.000 <.001	n.s. ***	<i>F</i> .01 105.63	180° <i>p</i> .909 <.001	n.s. ***
$\begin{array}{l} {\rm Trial} \\ {\rm Segment} \\ {\rm Trial} \times {\rm Segment} \end{array}$	$\frac{df}{1}\\2\\2$	<i>F</i> .00 30.67 .51	135° p 1.000 <.001 .599	n.s. *** n.s.	<i>F</i> .01 105.63 .09	180° <i>p</i> .909 <.001 .910	n.s. *** n.s.

Table 3.4: Summary of LMM results predicting rotation from trial and segment for different angles.

the main effect of segment without interaction for  $90^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ , and  $180^{\circ}$ : the eye, head, and body rotations remained similar over trials.

The results of the LMMs (Table 3.2) predicting the proportion showed the main effect of segment, an interaction between angle and segment, and an interaction between trial and segment. To follow up the angle × segment interaction (Table 3.5), pairwise comparisons showed that: the proportion that the eyes contributed to the gaze shifts decreased significantly from 45° to 90° (t(272) = 8.082, p < .001), from 90° to 135° (t(275) = 7.870, p< .001), and from 135° to 180° (t(280) = 4.376, p < .001); the proportion of head rotation increased from 45° to 90° (t(272) = -6.334, p < .001), remained no change from 90° to 135° (t(275) = -1.939, p = .107), and from 135° to 180° (t(280) = .195, p = .845); the proportion of body rotation was similar between 45° and 90° (t(272) = -1.222, p = .223), but increased from 90° to 135° (t(275) = -5.931, p < .001), and from 135° to 180° (t(280)= -4.680, p < .001).

Table 3.5: Pairwise comparisons between adjacent angles for each segment based on the proportion of each gaze shift.

	Proportion
Eye	$45^{\circ} > 90^{\circ} > 135^{\circ} > 180^{\circ}$
Head	$45^{\circ} < 90^{\circ} = 135^{\circ} = 180^{\circ}$
Body	$45^{\circ} = 90^{\circ} < 135^{\circ} < 180^{\circ}$

To follow up on the trial  $\times$  segment interaction, a LMM predicting the proportion from trial and segment was conducted separately for different angles. As Table 3.4) shows, for the angle of 45°, the results of LMM showed the main effect of segment and the interaction between trial and segment. To follow up on the trial  $\times$  segment interaction, the linear trend estimates showed no change in the eye proportion over trials, an increase in the head proportion, and a decrease in the body proportion. However, the results of LMMs only showed the main effect of segment without interaction for 90°, 135°, and 180°. The eye, head, and body proportions all remained similar over trials.

## 3.5.2 Motor-Memory Trade-Off

Second, to examine if participants changed the copying strategy over trials, 4 dependent variables were calculated for each trial:

- 1. Number of looks: the total number of model looks in a trial. The larger the number of looks is, the more frequently the participants moved their eyes, head, and body to look at the models (expending greater effort). The hypothesized decreasing number of looks over trials suggested less motor effort expended by participants.
- 2. Look duration: the duration of an average model look in a trial. This variable was calculated by calculating the mean duration of all model looks in a trial (in unit

of frames then converted to seconds). Longer average look durations suggest that participants spent longer in memorizing the models. The hypothesized increasing look duration over trials suggested more memory use by participants

- 3. *Trial duration*: the total time spent in completing each trial. The shorter trial duration indicated higher task efficiency. Trial duration was hypothesized to decrease over trials as participants practiced.
- 4. Look proportion: the proportion of time spent looking at the models within a trial. This variable was calculated by dividing the total look time by trial duration (note the total look time was calculated by multiplying number of looks and look duration). The higher look proportion indicated participants proportionally spent longer looking at the models.

Results demonstrated the effect of practice: over trials participants moved their eyes, head, and body less frequently to look at the model but the mean look duration remained the same across angles. Participants used less and less time to complete each trial (Figure 3.5C) while continuing to perform the task accurately, indicating increased efficiency. Although the look proportion decreased for all angles (Figure 3.5D), participants spent significantly more time looking at the model proportionally when less motor effort was required to make the gaze shifts. Regarding the differences across angles, results replicated [93] that participants looked more frequently with shorter duration at the models positioned at a small angle (requiring less motor effort) compared to larger angles (requiring greater
Figure 3.5: Summaries of model predictions for (A)the number of looks, (B) mean look duration, (C) trial duration, and (D) look proportion over trials (x-axis) across angle (separate colored lines).



motor effort) (Figure 3.5A and B). This implied that participants expended more motor effort when the movements of making gaze shifts were less effortful.

The results of the LMM predicting the number of looks showed significant main effects of angle and trial (Table 3.6). Participants looked at the models less frequently when the models were at larger angles. Follow up pairwise comparisons showed a greater number of looks for 45° (M = 11.89, SD = 2.98) compared to 90° (M = 7.28, SD = 2.42), 135° (M

		Numb	er of Lo	ooks	Look	x Durat	ion
	df	F	p		F	p	
Angle	3	23.82	<.001	***	5.62	.002	**
Trial	1	113.53	< .001	***	.15	.699	n.s.
Angle $\times$ Trial	3	2.54	.056	n.s.	3.29	.020	*
*p < .05, **p < .05	)1, *	**p<.001					
· / ·	,	1					
<b>,</b> , <b>,</b>	,	<sup>-</sup> Trial	Durati	on	Look	Propor	tion
. , .	df	$^{1}$ Trial $F$	$\mathbf{Durati}_p$	on	Look F	Propor p	tion
Angle	$\frac{df}{3}$	<b>Trial</b> <i>F</i> 10.32	<b>Durati</b> <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001	on ***	Look <i>F</i> 6.65	$\frac{p}{<.001}$	rtion ***
Angle Trial	$\frac{df}{3}$	<b>Trial</b> <i>F</i> 10.32 78.67	<b>Durati</b> <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001 <i>&lt;</i> .001	on *** ***	Look F 6.65 18.25	Propor <u>p</u> <.001 <.001	tion *** ***
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Angle} \\ \text{Trial} \\ \text{Angle} \times \text{Trial} \end{array}$	$\frac{df}{3}\\1\\3$	Trial F 10.32 78.67 2.81	Durati p <.001 <.001 .039	on *** *** *	Look F 6.65 18.25 4.25	p $2.001$ $<.001$ $0.006$	tion *** *** *** **

Table 3.6: Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and look proportion from angle and trial.

Table 3.7: Pairwise comparisons between adjacent angles for the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and look proportion.

Number of looks	$45^{\circ} > 90^{\circ} = 135^{\circ} = 180^{\circ}$
Look duration	$45^{\circ} = 90^{\circ} < 135^{\circ} = 180^{\circ}$
Trial duration	$45^{\circ} = 90^{\circ} < 135^{\circ} = 180^{\circ}$
Look Proportion	$45^{\circ} > 90^{\circ} = 135^{\circ} = 180^{\circ}$

= 6.27, SD = 2.53), and 180° (M = 5.63, SD = 2.34) (Table 3.7). There was no difference between 90°, 135°, and 180°. For all angles, the number of looks decreased over trials.

The results of the LMM predicting mean look duration showed a significant main effect of angle and the interaction between angle and trial (Table 3.6). Follow up pairwise comparisons on the main effect of angle showed that the look duration was significantly shorter at 45° (M = .43, SD = .10) and 90° (M = .55, SD = .31) compared to 135° (M= 1.03, SD = .53) and 180° (M = 1.13, SD = .73) (Table: 3.7). No difference was found between 45° and 90° or between 135° and 180°. Follow up pairwise comparisons on the angle × trial interaction showed that the look duration slightly increased over trials at 180° but remained similar at other angles. The results of the LMM predicting trial duration showed significant main effects of angle and trial, and the interaction between angle and trial (Table 3.6). Follow up pairwise comparisons on the main effect of angle showed that the trial duration was shorter at  $45^{\circ}$ (M = 5.13, SD = 1.62) and  $90^{\circ}$  (M = 3.94, SD = 2.05) compared to  $135^{\circ}$  (M = 5.81, SD= 2.49) and  $180^{\circ}$  (M = 5.65, SD = 3.01) (Table 3.7). No difference between  $45^{\circ}$  and  $90^{\circ}$  or between  $135^{\circ}$  and  $180^{\circ}$ . Over trials, participants used less time to complete each trial but to different extents across angles. The decrease rate for  $90^{\circ}$  was significantly smaller than  $180^{\circ}$  (p = .028).

The results of the LMM predicting mean look proportion showed significant main effects of angle and trial, and the interaction between angle and trial (Table 3.6). Follow up pairwise comparisons on the main effect of angle showed that the look proportion was greater at  $45^{\circ}$  (M = .29, SD = .07) than  $90^{\circ}$  (M = .21, SD = .07),  $135^{\circ}$  (M = .22, SD= .06) and  $180^{\circ}$  (M = .21, SD = .07) (Table 3.7). No difference was found between other angles. Follow up pairwise comparisons on the angle  $\times$  trial interaction showed that over trials, the look proportion decreased for  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $90^{\circ}$ , and  $135^{\circ}$  but did not change for  $180^{\circ}$ .

# 3.6 Discussion

The current study investigated how participants coordinated the eyes, head, and body and traded off motor effort and memory use with repeated practice in the copying task. We hypothesized that participants could become more efficient by improving their eye-head-body coordination and/or by changing their strategy, and found evidence of both types of improvement over the course of trials. Regarding the changes in the eye-head-body coordination, participants increased their head rotation and decreased their body rotation in the  $45^{\circ}$  condition that involved smaller shifts of gaze, reducing motor effort. However, when body movements were required to make larger gaze shifts in the larger angle conditions, the eye-head-body coordination remained similar over trials. In terms of the changes in the motor-memory trade-off, participants used more memory over repeated trials to improve task performance. This indicated strategy change during repeated practice. Specifically, participants looked less frequently at the models over trials, spent less time in inspecting the models totally, and completed the copying task faster in each trial.

#### 3.6.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination at Different Angles Over Trials

A highlight of the study was to capture the eye-head-body coordination at different angles over repeated trials. Consistent with previous studies [93, 47, 67, 45, 109, 120], the results showed that the eyes, head, and body coordinated in different ways when making gaze shifts of different amplitudes. The eye movements contributed more when the models were positioned at a small angle, whereas the head and body movements contributed more at the larger angles. With repeated practice, participants increased the head proportion to lower the body proportion when making small gaze shifts.

Indeed, the motor effort to look depends on how the eyes, head, and body are coordinated to shift gaze [43, 42, 86, 123, 45, 48, 120]. First, the eyes, head, and body movements have different biomechanical properties. Eye movements are quick with smaller range of rotation whereas the head and body movements are slow with larger range of rotation [86, 67, 60, 123, 3, 126, 51]. Second, eye movements cost less energetically compared to head and body movements [122]. Thus, people might trade off between the eye movements and use of memory differently compared to the head and body movements.

It is noted that participants gradually increased the proportion of head movements rather than the lower-effort eye movement to reduce body movement when making small gaze shifts. However, based on previous research [58, 126], the oculomotor range of human eyes is  $\pm 55^{\circ}$  horizontally. That is, participants could theoretically rotate the eyes to a larger degree to reduce the head or body movements. But they did not do so in the task. It may imply compared to the head, people tend to keep the eyes centered [16, 45].

#### 3.6.2 Changes in the Copying Strategy

Another highlight of the study was to examine the changes in the motor-memory trade-off over repeated trials. Using a between-subject design, the current study duplicated the prior work [93] that participants tended to use more memory if making gaze shifts was too effortful. When the models were positioned at a small angle, participants looked more frequently with shorter duration at the models. However, they reduced the frequency of model looks and looked longer each time when the models were positioned at large angles.

Moreover, the results suggested that participants used more memory with practice. Over repeated trials, participants decreased the times of looking at the models regardless of angles. They improved memorization efficiency as the mean look duration remained similar (at least for 45, 90, and 135) but they remembered more information each time they looked at the models. In total, participants spent less time inspecting the models and completing the task, implying higher efficiency in performing the copying task. Nevertheless, the results indicated that after repeated practice participants were still inclined to expend more motor effort rather than using memory if making gaze shifts was less effortful. The number of looks did not drop below the number of items on the models for the small angle. That is, participants still unnecessarily looked at the closer models very frequently in the last few trials. However, participants were willing to use more memory over trials if the models were positioned at large angles. This implied that different movements—the low-effort eye movements versus high-effort head and body movements, might be carefully evaluated in the motor-memory trade-off by participants. The eye movements are easy and quick so that people choose to use them more rather than memory. In contrast, the head and body movements are effortful. People then choose to use more memory.

#### 3.6.3 Practice Effects on Motor-Memory Trade-Off

Consistent with previous studies, this study showed that participants improved the motor and cognitive efficiency with repeated practice in the copying task. Physically, participants looked less frequently at the models. In addition to reducing the number of model looks, participants also spontaneously changed the way they coordinated their eyes, head, and body to decrease motor cost. Cognitively, participants used more memory.

Combining the two sets of results, it can be seen that the motor-memory trade-off is a dynamic process that evolves over time. People trade off between motor effort and use of memory when first encountered the task. Different task characteristics have an impact on the trade-off [9, 26, 55, 70, 93, 85, 59, 68, 106]. With practice, the efforts of eye-headbody movements and memorization both decrease, leading to different trade-off. In general, employing cognitive resources, such as the use of memory, is a more efficient strategy to improve performance, but memory use becomes more difficult when approaching the limits of memory capacity. People continuously adjust strategies within and between systems, and trade off accordingly.

Results also highlighted that some changes due to practice in the eye-head-body coordination and motor-memory trade-off were universal across angles, whereas others were angle specific. For example, participants looked at the model less frequently after repeated practice regardless of angle. However, participants optimized the eye-head-body coordination to decrease the total motor cost at a small angle but not at a large angle. They spent slightly longer looking at the models to memorize the information at a large angle but not at a small angle. The findings suggested that people become optimal within the constraints of the task.

Lastly, we acknowledged that this study only examined the spontaneous changes in the motor-memory trade-off with repeated practice. Participants still looked at the models more often than was necessary—which was inefficient, in the small angle condition after multiple trials of spontaneous practice. It is unknown how people might further improve efficiency if given instructions or feedback [105, 131, 129, 52]. Future studies should look at how people change the motor-memory trade-off after exploring more efficient strategies.

#### 3.6.4 Conclusion

To sum up, the current study investigated the practice effects on the motormemory trade-off. The findings showed that participants improved task performance by expending less motor effort and used more memory with repeated practice. Specifically, they looked less frequently at the models and increased the proportion of head rotation to make small gaze shifts. They also memorized more information efficiently. Future studies will examine if forcing people to learn a more efficient strategy further improves the task performance. Chapter 4

# Does Inducing People to Test a Different Strategy Lead to Later Adoption of a More Efficient Strategy?

# 4.1 Abstract

Previous studies have shown that people trade off between expending motor effort and using memory when copying information, and adjust the trade-off spontaneously over the course of repeated practice. However, it is unknown whether manipulating motor effort might lead to participants discovering a more efficient strategy. Thus, the current study restricted people's head movements and tested if the increased motor cost due to head restriction would lead people to discover a more efficient strategy that depends on memory. We compared the eye-head-body coordination and copying strategy (i.e. expending more motor effort or using memory) before, during, and after the head restriction. Participants wore a neck brace during the head-restriction block of trials to increase the motor effort of looking. Using motion sensors and a mobile eye tracker, we recorded participants' eye-headbody movements and identified when they looked at the models. The results showed that participants increased eye and body movements to compensate for the head restriction, but returned to their original eye-head-body coordination after head restriction was removed. In terms of the copying strategy, participants increased the use of memory with head restriction and continued using the memory-based strategy to improve task efficiency after removing the restriction. The findings implied that restriction may lead people to discover and adopt a more efficient strategy.

## 4.2 Introduction

People trade off between expending motor effort and using memory when gathering information [9, 26, 55, 70, 93]. For example, in our prior work [93], participants were instructed to copy models positioned at different angles around them. To gather visual information about the model, participants might choose to look frequently at the model (i.e. expending more motor effort) or hold more information in memory to reduce frequent model looking. Participants looked more frequently at the model when it was positioned at a small angle (requiring less motor effort) but used more memory to reduce model looking when the models were at larger angles (requiring more motor effort). Despite this trade-off between conditions, participants did not maximize their efficiency in any condition—they consistently looked more times than was necessary.

How might people improve their efficiency when trading off between memory and motor effort? Repeated experiences with the same task might allow people to spontaneously discover more efficiency strategies [94]. In the study, participants copied the models positioned at one assigned angle for multiple trials and we recorded how their eye-head-body coordination and copying strategy changed over the course of repeated practice. Results showed that participants looked less frequently and used more memory after repeated practice with the task. They completed the copying task more and more quickly over trials, indicating an improved efficiency. Also, we found that participants changed the way in which the eyes, head, and body coordinated to make gaze shifts of small amplitude with repeated practice. Specifically, to gather the information on the model at a small angle, participants gradually increased the head movement to reduce the body movement to lower the total motor cost.

However, participants' performance was sub-optimal after repeated practice [94]. They still relied on frequent model looking rather than memorization to gather the information. For instance, in the 45° condition, participants on average looked at the model 11 times at the end of multiple trials, which exceeded the total number of items on the model (i.e. 8) [94]. Optimally, if participants memorize the positions of 1 or 2 items per model look, they could complete the copying in 8 or 4 looks, which is way lower than 11. In the current study, we further investigated whether increasing the motor effort of looking might lead to the discovery and later adoption of a more efficient memory use strategy.

#### 4.2.1 Strategy Exploration

Some previous studies showed that people do not always settle on efficient informationgathering strategies when allowed to spontaneously choose how to perform a task [84, 46]. In one of the studies [84], participants were asked to wear a backpack and make judgments about whether they could squeeze through doorways of different widths. Participants failed to make accurate judgments even though they were allowed to explore the doorway in any way they thought would be helpful. Perception was only recalibrated successfully after participants were explicitly instructed to try squeezing through the doorway to practice. That is, participants did not spontaneously discover the most efficient strategy (in this case practicing squeezing through the doorway) and detect the useful information. In addition, the failure was not due to low motivation because the group who received monetary rewards for better performance was no more likely to discover an efficient strategy compared with a no-reward group.

Furthermore, some studies provided evidence that participants were capable of using more efficient strategies but did not do so without training or prompts [105, 131, 129]. In one example [129], participants were asked to determine if the target pair of nouns matched one of the pairs in a table shown on the same screen. Results showed that even after trials of practice, participants still tended to look up the table to verify if the pairs matched, instead of memorizing the table and then comparing the target to the memory to improve efficiency. As comparison, participants in another group went through some trials (randomly inserted into the regular trials) in which they were asked to recognize if the target matched without displaying the table. Those trials were used for the purpose of prompting increased use of memory and removed from the data analyses. Results showed that this group of participants were more likely to memorize the table and the response time decreased significantly. It implied that participants were able to use a more efficient strategy for higher efficiency but they did not choose to do so spontaneously.

Exposing people to different strategies might lead them to later adopt more efficient strategies. Howes and colleagues [68] asked participants to copy appointment information from an email application to a calendar on a computer. Participants went through two phases—the no-choice and choice phases. In the no-choice phase, participants were required to memorize certain numbers of appointments (from 3 to 9) at a time and then copy them to the calendar. Afterwards, participants went through the choice phase in which they could decide how many appointments to remember each time opening the email. Results showed that the number of appointments participants chose to remember in the choice phase was the one producing highest copying correct rate in the no-choice phase. The results implied that participants learned the most efficient way to do the task after trying all possible strategies.

# 4.3 Current Study

Prior work showed that even after repeated practice for trials, participants do not settle on an efficient motor-memory trade-off strategy [94]. Exposing participants to unfamiliar strategies may help them spontaneously adopt a more efficient one. Thus, in the current study, we manipulated the motor effort of eye-head-body movements to investigate if the varied eye-head-body coordination induces strategy changes. Specifically, we restricted participants' head movements in the copying task [94], and compared participants' eye-head-body movements and copying strategies before, during, and after the head restriction. By doing so, we attempted to answer two research questions. First, how did participants coordinate the eyes, head, and body with head restriction and after removing the head restriction? Second, how did participants change their copying strategy with head restriction and after removing the head restriction?

Participants completed 3 consecutive blocks of 10 trials—pre-restriction, restriction, and post-restriction. In the pre- and post-restriction blocks, participants copied the models without any head restriction as in the prior work [94]. In the restriction block, participants wore a neck brace while copying the models to make head movements more difficult. Note that participants repeatedly copied models positioned at one angle—either 45° or 135° in the current study. We chose those two angles because the prior work showed that participants' performance at 45° was distinct from at larger angles (i.e. 90°, 135°, 180°) but there was little difference across the large angles [93, 94].

To answer the first question on eye-head-body coordination, we recorded participants' eye-head-body movements throughout the study. To compare between the angle conditions, we calculated the proportion that each segment (i.e. eye, head, and body) contributed to the gaze shifts when participants looked at the models. Then we compared the mean proportions between the blocks. We hypothesized that participants would increase the proportions of the eyes and body to compensate for the restricted head movements, but resume the eye-head-body coordination after removing the head restriction. The way they coordinated the eyes and body to compensate for the head restriction may be different for different angles.

To answer the second question on the copying strategy, we calculated 4 dependent variables and compared them between the blocks.

- 1. *Number of looks*: the total number of model looks in a trial. The larger the number of looks is, the more frequently the participants moved their eyes, head, and body to look at the models (expending greater effort).
- 2. Look duration: the duration of an average model look in a trial. This variable was calculated by calculating the mean duration of all model looks in a trial (in unit of frames then converted to seconds). Longer average look durations suggest that participants spent longer memorizing the models.
- 3. *Trial duration*: the total time spent in completing each trial. The shorter trial duration indicated higher task efficiency.
- 4. Look proportion: the proportion of time spent looking at the models within a trial. This variable was calculated by dividing the total look time by trial duration (note the total look time was calculated by multiplying number of looks and look duration). The higher look proportion indicated participants proportionally spent longer looking at the models.

We hypothesized that the increased motor effort resulting from head restriction would induce people to use more memory, and they would continue to use the more efficient strategy in the post-restriction block. Specifically, the number of looks was expected to decrease, the mean look duration to increase, the trial duration and look proportion to decrease. The extent to which participants might change the strategy may be different for different angles.

# 4.4 Method

#### 4.4.1 Participants and Design

This study used a mixed design. The between-subject factor was the angle at which the model was positioned. Participants were alternately assigned to one of the angles  $(45^{\circ} \text{ or } 135^{\circ})$  and copied the models positioned at the assigned angle on the dominant-hand side for 30 trials. The within-subject factor was block (i.e. pre-restriction, restriction, post-restriction).

Fifty college students were recruited from the introductory psychology class at the University of California, Riverside and received course credit for their participation in the study. Thirteen participants were excluded due to recording problems (e.g. recording device failure, corrupted video files, experimenter error). Another four participants were excluded due to poor pupil image quality for eye tracking. The final sample for the eye tracking data analyses was 33 participants (6 males, 26 females, and 1 other, M age = 19.21 years, SD age = 1.47), 17 for the angle of 45° and 16 for 135°. All participants had normal or corrected to normal vision and were not color blind. Twenty-eight participants were right-handed, five left-handed. Participants described their ethnicity as Hispanic/Latinx (9) or not Hispanic/Latinx (22); two participants chose not to answer. Participants described

their race as Asian (15), White (7), African American (1), More than One Race (1), and Other (3); six chose not to answer.

Among the 33 participants, nine participants were further excluded from the analyses of eye-head-body coordination due to either recording problems (5) or poor synchronization between eye tracking and motion tracking data (3). As a result, the final sample for the motion tracking data analyses was 25 participants (4 males, 20 females, and 1 other, M age = 19.36 years, SD age = 1.55). Among them 14 copied models at the angle of 45° and 11 at 135°.

#### 4.4.2 Apparatus

The experimental setup was the same as in [93] Figure 4.1. Participants stood in front of a music stand which held the *workspace*: an empty  $4 \times 4$  grid with 8 magnets provided for participants to copy the model. The magnets were placed on the side of the grid corresponding to the participant's dominant hand. The *model* was displayed on another music stand which was positioned at the angle of  $45^{\circ}$  or  $135^{\circ}$  to the left or right side of the participant. The distance from the participants to the workspace was 35.56 cm (the line 'a'), and was 66.04 cm to the model (the line 'b'). The height of the workspace and model were adjusted to the participant's chest level. The model had a set of 30 different multi-colored patterns (4 colors, 2 magnets each color), which were generated by a computer script and used across all participants in the same order. Two wall-mounted security cameras (on the participants' left and right sides) recorded the third-person view videos.



Figure 4.1: The experimental setup.

To capture eye movements, participants wore a Positive Science head-mounted eye tracker (Figure 4.2) throughout the study. The eye tracker has two cameras: a *scene camera* positioned over participants' right eye recording the participants' first-person field of view, and an *eye camera* that points to the participants' right eye and records the eye movements. The two cameras are mounted on a lightweight eyeglass frame. The videos recorded by the two cameras (sampling rate 30 Hz) were streamed to a recording device attached to the shoulder band worn by participants.

To capture head movements, participants wore two wireless STT Systems IWS inertial measurement units (IMUs) (dimensions:  $56 \times 38 \times 18$  mm, 46 g): one on the forehead (attached to a head band), the other on the neck (attached to a shoulder band) at the C7 vertebrae (Figure 4.2). The IMUs streamed acceleration and gyroscope data at a rate of 400 Hz over WiFi to the STT software installed on a laptop, which recorded the data.



Figure 4.2: Participants wore a head-mounted eye tracker, which has an eye camera and a scene camera, and two IMUs placed at the forehead and the base of neck were attached to a headband and a shoulder band. Participants wore a neck brace during the restriction block.

In the restriction block, participants wore a neck brace (Figure 4.2). The Aspen Collar neck brace (dimension: 26.67 x 24.13 x 1.78 cm, 159.04 g) is a collar with foam and straps to keep the head from moving from side to side or up and down (sometimes worn by people suffering from whiplash or neck or back pain). Adjustable straps were tightened for a custom fit for each participant.

#### 4.4.3 Procedure

The procedure was the same as in the prior work [94] except participants went through three blocks of 10 trials. In the first and third blocks, participants copied the models without any restriction. In the second, restriction block participants wore the neck brace to restrict head motion while copying the models. In the 1-hour long session, participants were instructed to complete the model-copying task, before and after which they completed brief calibration for the eye tracker and IMUs.

#### Calibration and Synchronization for the Eye Tracker and IMUs

After giving consent, participants put on a shoulder band, a head band, and the eye tracker. The experimenter adjusted the cameras of the eye tracker to ensure the scene camera would capture the participant's first-person field of view and the eye camera would capture the pupil and corneal reflection no matter how participants moved their eyes. The experimenter attached the IMUs to the headband and shoulder band worn by the participants and ensured they were at the correct positions and orientation.

To calibrate the eye tracker, participants stood 35 cm away from a cardboard poster (76 cm  $\times$  51 cm), which was put on the music stand. Nine targets (2.5  $\times$  2.5 cm) were drawn on the board: 4 at the corners, 4 at the midpoints of each edge, and 1 at the center. Participants were asked to move their eyes to look at specific targets while keeping their head still. The eye tracker measured the rotations of eyes while participants were looking at different targets in the field of view and determined the gaze direction in pixels relative to the scene camera video. The same calibration procedure was repeated in the middle and end of the model-copying task to ensure the accuracy of eye tracking throughout the session.

To calibrate the IMUs and to synchronize with the eye tracking data for subsequent analyses, participants were asked to look forward, keep the chin parallel to the floor and still for a while, and then quickly turn the head to the left and right. These motions created identifiable moments in the IMU data to be synchronized with the eye tracking data. The experimenter checked the visualization of the IMUs data on the software to ensure it showed the correct motions.

#### Model-Copying Task

Participants completed two practice trials and 30 experimental trials of the modelcopying task. A set of 30 different configurations of the model patterns were randomly created by a computer script and used across participants. The model was positioned on the side of the participant's dominant hand at the assigned angle (45° or 135°). In each trial, participants were required to copy the model correctly while standing at a designated spot on the floor (the wrongly copied trials were excluded from the data analyses). They were also required to pick up one magnet at one time with the dominant hand. They faced toward the workspace at the beginning of each trial but were allowed to turn their head, body, and feet to look at the model as many times as they needed while copying the model. They were reminded to close their eyes while the experimenters changed the model between trials.

#### 4.4.4 Data Processing and Analyses

Synchronizing the data collected from the eye tracker and IMUs was conducted as in [93].

First, the eye rotation in each frame of the scene videos (in unit of pixels) was calculated from the eye and scene videos recorded by the eye tracker using the software Yarbus (Positive Science). The time series of horizontal eye rotation in pixels were then converted to degrees based on the camera's horizontal field of view and lens correction, as in [45]. Second, the acceleration and gyroscope data recorded by the IMUs were used to calculate the time series of horizontal head rotation in degrees relative to the base of the neck by the software iSen (STT Systems).

Third, to synchronize the eye tracking and IMU data, the experimenter identified the sharp head turns participants made during calibration in the time series of IMU data and the corresponding moments in the scene videos (quick shifts of field of view). The experimenter marked down the times of the head turns and the frame numbers in the videos and then converted the times series to the unit of frames in a Matlab script.

After synchronization, for each frame of the trials in the scene videos, two independent coders tagged each instance of looking at the model. If the participants' eye gaze fell within the area of model in the field of view for at least 2 frames (allowing 1 frame off or a blink in between), a *model look* was defined. The inter-rater reliability was high (98.79%).

To answer the research questions, two sets of analyses were conducted. First, for the IMUs data, a 3-way linear mixed-effect model (LMM) was applied to test the effects of block (3 levels, pre-restriction, restriction, post-restriction), angle (2 levels,  $45^{\circ}$ ,  $135^{\circ}$ ), and segment (3 levels, eye, head, body) on the proportion (%). The block, angle, and segment were included as fixed effects and participant as a random effect in the LMM (proportion ~ block × angle × segment + (1 — participant)). Results showed there was a 3-way interaction between block, angle, and segment. To follow up on the block × angle × segment interaction, for each angle, a 2-way LMM predicting the proportion was calculated with block and segment as the independent variables and participant as a random effect for each angle. We conducted the analyses for  $45^{\circ}$  and  $135^{\circ}$  separately and then compared between the angle. For clarity, we only reported the results of the two 2-way LMMs below.

Second, for the eye tracking data, four 2-way LMMs were applied to test the effects of block and angle on four dependent measures (i.e., number of looks, look duration, trial duration, look proportion) separately. The block and angle were included as fixed effects, and the participant was included as a random effect in the LMMs. For example, the model used to test the effects on the number of looks was: number of looks  $\sim$  block  $\times$  angle + (1 — participant).

The *lme4* [11] package in R [110] was used to calculate all LMMs. ANOVAs were used to test significance of main effects and interactions from the LMMs using the *lmerTest* package in R [83]. Degrees of freedom were determined by the Satterthwaite approximation [117, 92]. Follow-up pairwise comparisons used the Holm-Bonferroni correction to adjust for multiple comparisons.

# 4.5 Results

Two sets of results compared participants' exploratory movements and exploratory strategies across the three blocks. First, to examine how participants coordinated their eyes, head, and body, for each angle separately, we calculated the proportion each segment contributed to make gaze shifts, and compared them between the pre-restriction and restriction blocks, and between the pre-restriction and post-restriction blocks. Afterwards, we compared the differences between the angles. Second, to examine how participants traded off motor effort and use of memory, we compared the number of looks, look duration, trial du-

-		$45^{\circ}$			$135^{\circ}$	
	Eye	Head	Body	Eye	Head	Body
Pre-Restriction	.60(.16)	.46(.40)	.28(.31)	.25(.05)	.41(.16)	.34(.17)
Restriction	.73(.16)	.39(.48)	.36(.43)	.28(.04)	.17(.16)	.55(.15)
Post-Restriction	.61(.20)	.46(.40)	.31(.33)	.24(.05)	.43(.21)	.34(.18)

Table 4.1: Descriptive statistics (M and SD) for the proportion by block and segment for each angle. Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

ration, and look proportion between the pre-restriction and restriction blocks, and between the pre-restriction and post-restriction blocks for different angles.

#### 4.5.1 Eye-Head-Body Coordination

The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 4.1. As Figure 4.3 shows, participants increased their eye and body movements to compensate for head movement restriction while wearing the neck brace. Participants resumed their original eye-head-body coordination after removing the neck brace. How participants adapted to restriction depended on the angle of the model: the eyes contributed more to making the gaze shifts and compensating for the head restriction for 45°. In contrast, the body made larger contribution to the gaze shifts and compensation for the head restriction for 135° compared to the eyes.

For 45°, the results of the LMMs (Table 4.2) predicting proportion showed significant main effects of block (3 levels: pre-restriction, restriction, post-restriction) and segment (3 levels: eye, head, body), and an interaction between block and segment. To follow up on the block × segment interaction, pairwise comparisons between the blocks by segment (Table 4.3) showed: the eye proportion increased from the pre-restriction to restriction (t(1214) = 4.876, p <5.218, p < .001), then decreased from restriction to post-restriction (t(1214) = 4.876, p <



Figure 4.3: The proportion that the eye, head, and body movements (separate colored lines) contributed to the gaze shifts across blocks (x-axis) for different angles (A: 45°, B: 135°). Note that the proportions were calculated at the trial level, so the sum of mean proportions is not equal to one.

Table 4.2: Summary of LMM results predicting proportion from block and segment for each angle.

			$45^{\circ}$			$135^{\circ}$	
	df	F	p		F	p	
Block	2	10.06	<.001	***	.04	.959	n.s.
Segment	2	208.92	< .001	***	86.60	<.001	***
Block $\times$ Segment	4	7.93	<.001	***	93.48	< .001	***
*p < .05, **p < .01, *	***p	<.001					

.001). There was no difference in the eye proportion between the pre- and post-restriction blocks (t(1214) = .295, p = .768). The head proportions remained similar across the blocks (p > .05). The body proportion increased from the pre-restriction to restriction (t(1214) = .663, p = .001), then decreased from restriction to post-restriction (t(1214) = .663, p = .016). There was no difference in the body proportion between the pre- and post-restriction blocks (t(1214) = .977, p = .329).

Table 4.3: Pairwise comparisons for the proportion between blocks (1: pre-restriction, 2: restriction, 3: post-restriction) by segment for each angle.

	$45^{\circ}$	$135^{\circ}$
Eye	2 > 1 = 3	1 = 2 = 3
Head	1 = 2 = 3	2 < 1 = 3
Body	2 > 1 = 3	2 > 1 = 3

Table 4.4: Pairwise comparisons for the proportion between segments by block for each angle.

	$45^{\circ}$	$135^{\circ}$
Pre-Restriction	Eye > Head > Body	Head > Body > Eye
Restriction	Eye > Head = Body	Body > Eye > Head
Post-Restriction	Eye > Head > Body	Head > Body > Eye

To understand how the eyes, head, and body coordinated in each block for  $45^{\circ}$ , pairwise comparisons between the segments by block (Table 4.4) showed: in the prerestriction block, the proportion that the eyes contributed to the gaze shifts was greater compared to the head (t(1214) = 5.124, p < .001) and body (t(1214) = 11.488, p < .001). The head proportion was greater than the body proportion (t(1214) = 6.365, p < .001). In the restriction block, the eye proportion was greater than the proportions of head (t(1214) = 11.805, p < .001) and body (t(1214) = 12.906, p < .001). But there was no difference between the head and body proportions (t(1214) = 1.101, p = .271). The results for the post-restriction were similar to the pre-restriction block: the eye proportion was greater than the proportions of head (t(1214) = 5.225, p < .001) and body (t(1214) = 10.606, p < .001), and the head proportion was greater than the body proportion (t(1214) = 5.381, p < .001).

For  $135^{\circ}$ , the results of the LMMs (Table 4.2) predicting the proportion showed the main effect of segment and an interaction between block and segment. To follow up on the block × segment interaction, pairwise comparisons between blocks by segment (Table 4.3) showed: the eye proportion remained similar across the blocks (p > .05). The head proportion decreased from the pre-restriction to restriction (t(1214) = 12.202, p < .001), then increased from restriction to post-restriction (t(1214) = 13.334, p < .001). There was no difference in the head proportion between the pre- and post-restriction blocks (t(1214)= 1.136, p = .256). The body proportion increased from the pre-restriction to restriction (t(1214) = 10.529, p < .001), then decreased from restriction to post-restriction (t(1214) = 10.692, p < .001). There was no difference in the body proportion between the pre- and post-restriction blocks (t(1214) = .212, p = .832).

To understand how the eyes, head, and body coordinated in each block for  $135^{\circ}$ , pairwise comparisons between segments by block (Table 4.4) showed: in the pre-restriction block, the proportion that the head contributed to the gaze shifts was greater compared to the body (t(962) = 3.744, p < .001) and eye (t(962) = 8.399, p < .001). The body proportion was greater than the eye proportion (t(962) = 4.655, p < .001). In the restriction block, the body proportion was greater than the proportions of eye (t(962) = 13.250, p < .001) and head (t(962) = 18.932, p < .001). The eye proportion was greater than the head proportion (t(962) = 5.651, p < .001). The results for the post-restriction were similar to the prerestriction block: the head proportion was greater than the proportions of body (t(962) =5.069, p < .001) and eye (t(962) = 9.911, p < .001), and the body proportion was greater than the eye proportion (t(962) = 4.820, p < .001).

#### 4.5.2 Motor-Memory Trade-Off

The descriptive statistics are shown in Table 4.5. As Figure 4.4 shows, participants decreased expending motor effort and used more memory to copy the model when the

		$45^{\circ}$		
	Number of Looks	Look Duration	Trial Duration	Look Proportion
Pre-Restriction	12.09(2.97)	.41(.11)	17.43(4.36)	.28(.07)
Restriction	11.24(2.85)	.42(.13)	17.05(4.16)	.27(.07)
Post-Restriction	11.07(2.60)	.42(.10)	15.85(3.26)	.29(.07)
		$135^{\circ}$		
	Number of Looks	Look Duration	Trial Duration	Look Proportion
Pre-Restriction	5.96(2.08)	.86(.36)	23.78(7.92)	.20(.05)
Restriction	5.36(2.08)	.84(.43)	24.41(7.47)	.17(.06)
Post-Restriction	5.49(1.91)	.86(.55)	22.49(7.52)	.19(.08)

Table 4.5: Descriptive statistics (M and SD) for the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and look proportion by block for each angle.

head movement was restricted. They continued to use a memory-based strategy even after removing the head restriction. Also, participants further improved task efficiency (less time to complete the task) after removing the restriction although the number of looks and mean look duration were similar as with the head restriction. Compared to the small angle, participants were more likely to use memory and took longer to complete the task when the model was positioned at the large angle.

The results of the LMM predicting the number of looks (the indicator of motor effort) showed significant main effects of block and angle (Table 4.6). Pairwise comparisons on the main effect of block (Table 4.7) showed that the number of looks was greater for the pre-restriction block compared to the restriction (t(919) = 4.303, p < .001) and postrestriction (t(919) = 4.768, p < .001) blocks; but there was no difference between the restriction and post-restriction blocks (t(919) = .457, p = .891). In terms of the angle effect, the number of looks was greater for 45° compared to 135° (t(31) = 10.702, p < .001).

		Numb	er of Lo	$\mathbf{ooks}$	Lool	c Durat	ion
	df	F	p		F	p	
Block	2	13.88	<.001	***	.35	.703	n.s.
Angle	1	114.54	<.001	***	21.56	< .001	***
Block $\times$ Angle	2	1.84	.160	n.s.	1.06	.346	n.s.
*p < .05, **p < .0	1. **	*n < .001					
$r \cdots r \cdots r \cdots r$	-,	$P \rightarrow 0 \rightarrow 1$					
F 1.00, F 1.0	-,	Trial	Durati	on	Look	Propor	tion
F (100), F (10	, df	Trial F	$\mathbf{Durati}_p$	on	Look F	Propor p	tion
Block	$\frac{df}{2}$		<b>Durati</b> <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001	on ***	Look <i>F</i> 17.62	Propor <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001	tion ***
Block Angle	$\frac{df}{2}$		<b>Durati</b> <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001 .002	on *** **	Look F 17.62 33.32	Propor p <.001 <.001	tion *** ***
$\frac{Block}{Angle}$ $Block \times Angle$	$\frac{df}{2}$ 1 2		<b>Durati</b> <i>p</i> <i>&lt;</i> .001 .002 .001	on *** ** **	Look F 17.62 33.32 4.68	Propor p <.001 <.001 .009	tion *** *** **

Table 4.6: Summary of LMM results predicting the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and look proportion from block and angle.

\*p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001

Table 4.7: Pairwise comparisons between blocks (1: pre-restriction, 2: restriction, 3: post-restriction) for the number of looks, look duration, trial duration, and look proportion for each angle.

	$45^{\circ}$	$135^{\circ}$
Number of looks	1 > 2 = 3	1 > 2 = 3
Look duration	1 = 2 = 3	1 = 2 = 3
Trial duration	1 = 2 > 3	1 > 2 > 3
Look Proportion	1 = 2 = 3	1 = 3 > 2

Figure 4.4: Comparisons of (A) the number of looks, (B) mean look duration, (C) trial duration, and (D) look proportion across the blocks (x-axis) for different angles (separate colored lines).



The results of the LMM predicting mean look duration (the indicator of memory use during each model looking) showed a significant main effect of angle (Table 4.6). The mean look duration was shorter for 45° compared to 135° (t(31) = -4.643, p < .001). There was no significant difference between the blocks (p > .05).

The results of the LMM predicting trial duration (the indicator of task efficiency) showed significant main effects of block and angle, and the interaction between block and angle (Table 4.6). Follow up pairwise comparisons on the interaction (Table 4.7) showed that for 45°, the trial duration was lowest for the post-restriction block compared to the pre-restriction (t(919) = -5.025, p < .001) and restriction (t(919) = -3.981, p < .001) blocks; but there was no difference in the trial duration between the pre-restriction and

restriction blocks (t(919) = 1.039, p = .299). For  $135^{\circ}$ , the trial duration for the postrestriction block was the lowest compared to the pre-restriction (t(919) = -3.408, p < .001)and restriction (t(919) = -7.285, p < .001) blocks; but the restriction block was longer than the pre-restriction block (t(919) = 3.911, p < .001).

The results of the LMM predicting mean look proportion (another indicator of task efficiency) showed significant main effects of block and angle, and the interaction between block and angle (Table 4.6). Follow up pairwise comparisons on the interaction (Table 4.7) showed that the look proportion was similar across block for  $45^{\circ}$  (p > .05). However, for  $135^{\circ}$ , the look proportion was lower for the restriction block compared to the pre-restriction (t(919) = -5.842, p < .001) and post-restriction (t(919) = -4.474, p < .001) blocks; there was no difference between the pre- and post-restriction blocks (t(919) = 1.382, p = .167).

## 4.6 Discussion

This study investigated whether inducing people to explore different strategies leads them to adopt a more efficient strategy later. Specifically, we restricted participants' head movement by having them wear a neck brace, and investigated if the head restriction leads participants to use more memory in a copying task. The results showed that the head restriction changed the eye-head-body coordination such that the eyes made a larger contribution to smaller gaze shifts whereas the body made larger contribution to larger gaze shifts. In terms of the copying strategy, the increased motor cost caused by the head restriction led people to use more memory (as indicated by the decreased number of looks), and the effect carried over to the post-restriction block—participants continued to use more memory and improve the task efficiency after removing the head restriction.

#### 4.6.1 Changes in Eye-Head-Body Coordination

A novel aspect of the study was that we directly altered how the eyes, head, and body coordinated. Results showed that participants changed their eye-head-body coordination with the head restriction, indicating a successful manipulation on the effort of moving the head. Specifically, when the head was restricted, both the eyes and body increased their movements. But the eyes compensated more for the gaze shifts of small amplitude. When larger amplitude was required, the eyes did not rotate to extreme positions. Instead, the body moved to account for the large proportion of the gaze shifts although the body movements were more costly. This finding was consistent with the center bias found in other studies [16, 45]—observers are biased to keep their eyes relatively centered within their orbits, well below the anatomical limit of movement.

It is noted that the original eye-head-body coordination was resumed after removing the head restriction. That is, although participants adopted a different coordination of the eyes, head, and body to compensate for restriction, the original eye-head-body coordination was more efficient (or preferred). It also indicated that the strategy changes after the head restriction (discussed in next section) could not be explained by how the eyes, head, and body coordinated.

#### 4.6.2 Changes in the Copying Strategy

Previous studies showed that different factors affect the motor-memory trade-off such as the motor effort of moving the eyes, head, and body to gather visual information [9, 26, 55, 70, 93, 85, 59, 106]. Consistent with that, the current study found that participants chose to use more memory when the motor cost of moving the head increased. Moreover, we found that participants continued using more memory after removing the head restriction, indicating a carry-over effect of exploration [68]. Specifically, participants looked less frequently to the model. Although the number of looks and mean look duration remained similar after removing the head restriction compared to with the head restriction, the trial duration continued decreasing, indicating improved efficiency. It is possible that participants might move the eyes, head, hands, and body more quickly to copy the model. Future studies could capture the hand movements and investigate how the eye-hand coordination might change.

However, the conclusion about the carry-over effect should be interpreted cautiously. The number of looks in the post-restriction block was similar to the number of looks at the end of multiple trials practicing the copying task [94]. The carry-over effect of strategy exploration observed in the current study might be due to mere practice, not the result of head restriction. Specifically, the mean number of looks in the post-restriction block for the small angle was about 11, which was still higher than the number of items (i.e. 8) on the model. In other words, participants could potentially memorize the position of each item and copy them one by one—in which case they only needed to look at the model 8 times. But they used the minimum memory and kept checking the positions of items visually back and forth. The similar strategy was observed after spontaneous repeated practice as in [94]. The findings were consistent with the previous studies showing that people tend to rely on motor effort to complete tasks [9, 26, 55, 70, 93]. It is possible that compared to motor effort, the use of memory is more expensive and delicate [98, 23, 61, 14]. Future studies could investigate whether time constraints, feedback, or the teaching of memory skills might lead people to use more cognitive resources.

#### 4.6.3 Conclusion

The current found that with head restriction, people coordinate the eyes, head, and body differently and discover a more efficient strategy—using more memory rather than motor effort, to copy information. After removing the head restriction, the eyes, head, and body revert to how they coordinate originally. Given the same amount of motor effort (compared to pre-restriction), people continue to use the memory-based strategy afterwards and copy the information efficiently. But we did not test if the improved performance in the post-restriction block is more attributed to strategy exploration or mere practice. Also participants could potentially further improve efficiency by memorizing more information in one model look. The findings enhanced our understanding about how the motor effort of moving the eyes, head, and body may affect people's use of memory. Future studies could investigate the developmental changes in strategy exploration and motor-memory trade-off.

# Chapter 5

# **Conclusions and Future Directions**

This dissertation investigated the motor-memory trade-off and the underlying coordination of eyes, head, and body. Regarding the motor-memory trade-off, Chapter 2 showed that participants tended to expend more motor effort when the cost of movement was low, but used more memory when the cost of movement was high. Chapter 3 showed that participants changed the copying strategy by using more memory after repeated practice with the task to become more efficient. Chapter 4 showed that participants discovered and adopted a more efficient memory-based strategy after exploring the strategy space to cope with head restriction. Regarding the eye-head-body coordination, Chapter 2 showed that the eye movements contributed most to make gaze shifts of small amplitude, but head and body movements made greater contribution for gaze shifts of large amplitudes. Chapter 3 showed that with repeated practice, participants increased the proportion of head movements to reduce the need to make costly body movements at small angles; eye-head-body coordination was not changed with practice at larger angles. Chapter 4 showed that the eye-head-body coordination was altered by head restriction but was resumed after removing the head restriction, indicating the original eye-head-body coordination might be more efficient or comfortable.

The current studies replicated past work that participants adapt the motor-memory trade-off to task constraints [9, 26, 55, 70, 85, 59, 68, 106], indicating the dynamic interaction between motor and cognitive systems. When motor cost is high, people use more memory. When memorization is difficult, people rely on their motor abilities. This demonstrates that people can exploit resources flexibly according to the current situation.

A novel contribution of the current studies is showing how the motor-memory trade-off evolves over time. It is surprising that in a well-practiced task—looking back and forth to gather information—in a sample of typical adults, that there would be room for improvement. Participants did not stick with the same strategy that they adopted when first encountering the task. Rather, they kept adjusting the motor-memory trade-off trial-bytrial while practicing the task, despite there being no time pressure or reward to motivate participants to improve. This may indicate that people are spontaneously motivated to adjust their strategy to save energy. Moreover, the current studies showed that people learn and adopt more efficient strategies after being induced to explore different strategies. The learning ability makes people more adaptive to the changing environment.

Another novel contribution of the currents studies is showing how people change the coordination of different segments in their own body to adapt to the tasks, when there are multiple degrees of freedom to control. We found people coordinate their eyes, head, and body in different ways to make gaze shifts of different amplitudes. When one effector
is restricted, they employ other effectors to compensate for the restriction. When the restriction is removed, they revert to the more efficient or comfortable way. In addition, they keep adjusting the eye-head-body coordination on the go while doing the task. People are motivated to use lower-effort movements to reduce higher-effort movements spontaneously. Those findings could not be observed if we simply treat motor effort as an angle or distance. The underlying eye-head-body coordination provides insight into the motor control system, and how it may relate to the motor-memory trade-off.

## 5.1 Implications for the Degrees of Freedom Problem

An ongoing debate in the study of motor control is how people solve the degrees of freedom problem [12]. Most complex movements can be performed in a variety of ways. For example, to make a gaze shift of 20°, people could move their eyes for 20° without moving their head and body. Or they could move their eyes for 10° and move their head and body for 5° each (or many other allocations). With a variety of possibilities, how do people select a specific way to perform the movements? What drives the motor decision? One hypothesis is that people solve the degrees of freedom problem by choosing the most efficient strategy [118]. However, the opposite was observed in the current studies—people do not always choose the most efficient or energetically economical strategy. The current studies raise a specific challenge to the Optimal Control Hypothesis [118].

Results indicated that people coordinate their eyes, head, and body in an energetically inefficient way. For example, the oculomotor range of human eyes is about  $55^{\circ}$ . That is, people could rotate only their eyes to  $55^{\circ}$  horizontally. But we found in the current studies that to make gaze shifts of 45°, people move their head and body for about 20°, contributing to nearly half of the rotation. Moving eyes more to reduce costly head and body movements would efficiently save a lot of motor effort as they make gaze shifts so frequently. But people do not perform in the most efficient way, suggesting the need to identify another constraint to optimize. Possibly, eye-head-body control may take into account both energetic efficiency and exploration utility. For example, Tatler hypothesized that people might avoid making extreme eye movements because they limit future exploration [128]. This points to a key difference separating the current work from previous work about motor control—whereas performatory movements (e.g., reaching, stepping) might be optimized for efficiency, exploratory movements might be optimized for information gain at the cost of energetic efficiency.

However, some aspects of participants' behavior might not have been optimized in any way. For example, the current studies found that participants looked at the model 10 times on average to copy a model consisting of 8 items. Eight model looks would be sufficient if participants copied 1 item at a time. Moreover, people were highly consistent this inefficient behavior, despite multiple degrees of freedom in both the trade-off strategy and eye-head-body coordination. The results across all three studies replicated that participants expended more motor effort than necessary even after repeated practice or when the head was restricted. In summary, the current studies are consistent in showing that if participants are optimizing something to solve the degrees of freedom problem, it is not energy. But an even stronger challenge to the optimal control hypothesis comes from these extra looks to the model; even in a highly practiced task, participants were consistent in making unneeded exploratory movements.

Another way to approach the problem of inefficiency is to investigate the impact of metacognition in the task. One possibility is that participants did not believe that they were doing the task accurately, so they felt the need to override the efficient strategy and look at the model more than was necessary. Future studies should explicitly test if people are aware of what strategies they are using and what might be more efficient. In a prior computer-based study [68], participants were instructed to copy a number of messages from one page to another in specific ways (for example constrained to look at 1 message at a time). They were also provided the feedback of their performance in each trial. Results showed that participants produced the highest efficiency when remembering 5 messages at a time. They also chose to use this strategy when allowed to approach the task freely later. But it is unknown whether the memorization difficulty of the messages was comparable to the model patterns in the current studies. Future studies could design a computer version of the current studies to manipulate the numbers of looks and copies allowed in a trial. In this way, participants' performance profiles could be established to examine the most efficient strategy for individuals and whether increasing people' awareness of strategy use would help them improve efficiency.

## 5.2 Implications for Development

An intriguing avenue for future research is to examine how children navigate the motor-memory trade-off. Although only adults were tested in the current studies, the task is suitable for young children (about 5 or 6 years of age). Taking a developmental approach provides one potential avenue for disentangling the components that contribute to efficiency/inefficiency in the motor-memory trade-off. Regarding motor abilities, even toddlers demonstrate an adult-like ability to move their eyes and head in concert [25], suggesting that the ability to coordinate might not present age differences. By the age of 2, children have developed fine motor skills such as reaching, grasping, and manipulating objects with hands [1]. Thus, the motor movements required to perform the puzzle completion task should not be taxing for children. Instead, age differences in children's cognitive abilities or the efficiency of their visual-motor planning might play a role.

In terms of memory span, the normative developmental data showed that children by 6 years of age can memorize a sequence of 5 items, compared with 7 for adults [34]. Even though children's memory span is less than adults', it should still allow children to memorize 2-3 items each time they look at the model in the copying task. Yet, in certain conditions we observed that adults were unwilling to memorize even that much. By comparing children's and adults' willingness to memorize compared to their memory span, we may be able to determine whether model looks scale to memory abilities. Alternatively, memory ability may be uncoupled from how people spontaneously choose to memorize items in the task.

Another developmental difference between children and adults might be how they manage cognitive and motor effort in an efficient way. Recent work indicated that children as young as 5 years are sensitive to some aspects of the type and intensity of their own efforts. In the study, 5-year-olds built toys by doing different tasks and were tested how long they were willing to wait in order to get the toys in the end [78]. The tasks varied in the type (i.e. cognitive vs. physical) and intensity (i.e. high vs. low effort). It is found that children were more willing to wait for the toys built through cognitive and low-effort tasks compared to physical and high-effort tasks. Although it was unclear how children reasoned about their decision, the finding suggested that by 5 years of age children may differentiate the type and intensity of their own efforts.

How do children learn to trade off motor effort and memory use efficiently? Do they learn to become more efficient through practice? The current studies suggested that people become more efficient after exploring different strategies. Could strategy exploration facilitate child learning of the motor-memory trade-off? Past work demonstrated that children's willingness to explore strategies changes with age [41]. Younger children (4-7 years) were found to be more willing to try different ways of doing a motor task compared to older children (8-11 years) [41]. Older children were more cautious and avoided making mistakes. However, younger children did not perform better than older children in the task. It is possible that children may have difficulty learning from their mistakes and discovering the most efficient strategy after exploration [88, 41, 72]. Future studies should research the developmental changes in the effect of strategy exploration on the motor-memory trade-off.

Developmental differences in motor versus cognitive expertise across the lifespan might guide how participants trade off. Many aspects of visual and motor control reach adult-like levels by early childhood [1], well before cognitive abilities become adult-like. How might the a greater imbalance between motor and cognitive abilities affect the motormemory trade-off? It is possible that individuals might overly exploit the more developed ability. For example, children may need to expend more motor effort than adults to gather information. In contrast, individuals with restricted motor abilities (for example, people coping with temporary injury or long-term movement disabilities) may rely more on cognitive abilities. Declining motor and cognitive abilities in the process of healthy aging provides another interesting avenue for future research—would older adults still be willing to expend more motor effort to avoid memorization?

Given the motor and cognitive systems dynamically interact with each other, how does the reliance on more advanced ability to complete tasks affect the development of other abilities? Previous studies suggested that children's early motor development has cascading effect on cognitive development [124, 103, 102, 133, 134]. The onset of walking broadens infants' visual experiences [81], elicits different language input from caregivers [75], and facilitates social interaction [74, 44]. In all of these examples, the cascading effect of motor development on cognitive and social development is theorized to depend on how new motor skills increases exploratory abilities. Walking allows infants to travel to new places, and an upright position allows infants to look in greater directions. In the same way, adults in the current study relied on visual exploration to aid their cognitive performance. Assessing the developmental course of whether visual exploration is *efficient* might have other implications for cascading effects on cognition.

Recent work has found links between motor skills and academic performance, including both numeracy and literacy [17]. For example, children who develop fine motor skills (e.g. finger dexterity) use fingers to understand the concepts of numbers and do algebra [35, 50, 54, 49]. Literacy is linked to children's learning of handwriting, which in turn is linked to their visual-motor abilities [36]. Like the task used in the current studies, learning to write requires children to look at a letter to memorize its shape, and then look at a different place to reproduce the letter while guiding the pencil. When studying children's model looks while completing a handwriting reproduction task, Fears and colleagues [36] found that children did not spend more time looking at more complex displays, in contrast to the difficulty effect we observed in Chapter 2. This suggests that learning to efficiently use visual-motor skills in conjunction with memory may be a critical development in learning to write. Measuring age differences in the block copying task in parallel with the development of handwriting may shed light on whether visual-motor efficiency has cascading effects on academic achievement.

## Bibliography

- Karen E Adolph and John M Franchak. The development of motor behavior. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science, 8(1-2), 2017.
- [2] Martha W Alibali. How children change their minds: Strategy change can be gradual or abrupt. Developmental Psychology, 35(1):127–145, 1999.
- [3] Dimitri Anastasopoulos, Nausica Ziavra, Mark Hollands, and Adolfo Bronstein. Gaze displacement and inter-segmental coordination during large whole body voluntary rotations. *Experimental Brain Research*, 193(3):323–336, 2009.
- [4] Mark H Anshel and Craig A Wrisberg. Reducing warm-up decrement in the performance of the tennis serve. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 15(3):290–303, 1993.
- [5] Stephen A Antos, Konrad P Kording, and Keith E Gordon. Energy expenditure does not solely explain step length-width choices during walking. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, page online ahead of print. doi:10.1242/jeb.243104, 2022.
- [6] Terry A Bahill, Deborah Adler, and Lawrence Stark. Most naturally occurring human saccades have magnitudes of 15 degrees or less. *Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science*, 14(6):468–469, 1975.
- [7] Heather R Bailey, John Dunlosky, and Christopher Hertzog. Does strategy training reduce age-related deficits in working memory? *Gerontology*, 60(4):346–356, 2014.
- [8] Dana H Ballard, Mary M Hayhoe, Fang Li, and Steven D Whitehead. Hand-eye coordination during sequential tasks. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* of London. Series B, Biological Sciences., 337(1281):331–338, 1992.
- [9] Dana H Ballard, Mary M Hayhoe, and Jeff B Pelz. Memory representations in natural tasks. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 7(1):66–80, 1995.
- [10] Dana H Ballard, Mary M Hayhoe, Polly K Pook, and Rajesh P Rao. Deictic codes for the embodiment of cognition. *Behavioral Brain Sciences*, 20(4):723–742, 1997.
- [11] Douglas Bates, Martin Mächler, Ben Bolker, and Steve Walker. Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software, 67(1):1–48, 2014.

- [12] Nikolai A Bernshtein. The co-ordination and regulation of movements. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1967.
- [13] B Biguer, Marc Jeannerod, and Claude Prablanc. The coordination of eye, head, and arm movements during reaching at a single visual target. *Experimental Brain Research*, 46(2):301–304, 1982.
- [14] Zafer Bilda and John S Gero. The impact of working memory limitations on the design process during conceptualization. *Design Studies*, 28(4):343–367, 2007.
- [15] Andreas Bund and Josef Wiemeyer. Self-controlled learning of a complex motor skill: Effects of the learner's preferences on performance and self-efficacy. *Journal of Human Movement Studies*, 47:215–236, 2004.
- [16] Charlie S Burlingham, Naveen Sendhilnathan, Oleg Komogortsev, Scott T Murdison, and Michael J Proulx. Motor "laziness" constrains fixation selection in real-world tasks. 2023.
- [17] Claire E Cameron, Elizabeth A Cottone, William M Murrah, and David W Grissmer. How are motor skills linked to children's school performance and academic achievement? *Child Development Perspective*, 10(2):93–98, 2016.
- [18] Richard A Carlson, Boo H Khoo, Robin G Yaure, and Walter Schneider. Acquisition of a problem-solving skill: Levels of organization and use of working memory. *Journal* of Experimental Psychology: General, 119(2):193–214, 1990.
- [19] David D Chen, Joy L Hendrick, and Ronnie Lidor. Enhancing self-controlled learning environments: The use of self-regulated feedback information. *Journal of Human Movement Studies*, 43(1):69–86, 2002.
- [20] Suzete Chiviacowsky and Gabriele Wulf. Self-controlled feedback: Does it enhance learning because performers get feedback when they need it? Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 73(4):408–415, 2002.
- [21] Suzete Chiviacowsky, Gabriele Wulf, Franklin Laroque de Medeiros, Angélica Kaefer, and Go Tani. Learning benefits of self-controlled knowledge of results in 10-year-old children. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 79(3):405–410, 2008.
- [22] Liza Y M Chuah and Murray T Maybery. Verbal and spatial short-term memory: Common sources of developmental change? Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 73(1):7–44, 1999.
- [23] Nelson Cowan. The magical number 4 in short-term memory: A reconsideration of mental storage capacity. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 24(1):87–114, 2001.
- [24] Daniela Czernochowski, Axel Mecklinger, Mikael Johansson, and Michael Brinkmann. Age-related differences in familiarity and recollection: ERP evidence from a recognition memory study in children and young adults. *Cognitive, Affective, and Behavioral Neuroscience*, 5(4):417–433, 2005.

- [25] Brigid M Daniel and David N Lee. Development of looking with head and eyes. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 50(2):200–216, 1990.
- [26] Dejan Draschkow, Melvin Kallmayer, and Anna C Nobre. When natural behavior engages working memory. *Current Biology*, 31(4):869–874, 2021.
- [27] Jason A Droll and Mary M Hayhoe. Trade-offs between gaze and working memory use. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 33(6):1352–1365, 2007.
- [28] John Dunlosky and Christopher Hertzog. Updating knowledge about encoding strategies: A componential analysis of learning about strategy effectiveness from task experience. *Psychology and Aging*, 15(3):462–474, 2000.
- [29] Daniel L Eaves, Gavin Breslin, and Paul van Schaik. The short-term effects of realtime virtual reality feedback on motor learning in dance. Presence, 20(1):62–77, 2011.
- [30] Wolfgang Einhäuser, Frank Schumann, Stanislavs Bardins, Klaus Bartl, Guido Böning, Erich Schneider, and Peter König. Human eye-head co-ordination in natural exploration. *Network: Computation in Neural Systems*, 18(3):267–297. doi:10.1080/09548980701671094, 2007.
- [31] Anders K Ericsson and Neil Charness. Expert performance: Its structure and acquisition. American Psychologist, 49(8):725–747, 1994.
- [32] Anders K Ericsson, Ralf T Krampe, and Clemens Tesch-Römer. The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance. *Psychological Review*, 100(3):363– 406, 1993.
- [33] Yu Fang, Ryoichi Nakashima, Kazumichi Matsumiya, Ichiro Kuriki, and Satoshi Shioiri. Eye-head coordination for visual cognitive processing. *PLoS One*, 10(3):e0121035, 2015.
- [34] Kathleen Farrell Pagulayan, Robyn M Busch, Krista L Medina, John A Bartok, and Robert Krikorian. Developmental normative data for the corsi block-tapping task. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, 28(6):1043–1052, 2006.
- [35] Michel Fayol and Xavier Seron. About numerical representations: Insights from neuropsychological, experimental, and developmental studies. In Jamie I D Campbell, editor, *The Handbook of Mathematical Cognition*, pages 3–22. Psychology Press, New York, NY, 2005.
- [36] Nicholas E Fears, Brooke C Bailey, Blair Youmans, and Jeffrey J Lockman. An eyetracking method for directly assessing children's visual-motor integration. *Physical Therapy*, 99(6):797–806, 2019.
- [37] Iman Feghhi, John M Franchak, and David A Rosenbaum. Towards a common code for difficulty: Navigating a narrow gap is like memorizing an extra digit. Attention, *Perception*, & Psychophysics, 83(8):3275–3284, 2021.

- [38] Iman Feghhi and David A Rosenbaum. Judging the subjective difficulty of different kinds of tasks. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance, 45(8):983–994, 2019.
- [39] Iman Feghhi and David A Rosenbaum. Effort avoidance is not simply error avoidance. Psychological Research, 85(4):1462–1472, 2021.
- [40] Angela N Ferguson and Judith A Bowey. Global processing speed as a mediator of developmental changes in children's auditory memory span. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 91(2):89–112, 2005.
- [41] John M Franchak. Development of affordance perception and recalibration in children and adults. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 183:100–114, 2019.
- [42] John M Franchak. Looking with the eyes and head. In J. Wagman and J. Blau, editors, Perception as Information Detection: Reflections on Gibson's Ecological Approach to Visual Perception, pages 205–221. New York: Routledge, 2020.
- [43] John M Franchak. Visual exploratory behavior and its development. In K Federmeier and E Schotter, editors, *Psychology of Learning and Motivation*, The psychology of learning and motivation, pages 59–94. Elsevier, 2020.
- [44] John M Franchak, Kari S Kretch, and Karen E Adolph. See and be seen: Infant-caregiver social looking during locomotor free play. *Developmental Science*, 21(4):e12626, 2018.
- [45] John M Franchak, Brianna McGee, and Gabrielle Blanch. Adapting the coordination of eyes and head to differences in task and environment during fully-mobile visual exploration. *PLoS One*, 16(8):e0256463, 2021.
- [46] John M Franchak and Frank A Somoano. Rate of recalibration to changing affordances for squeezing through doorways reveals the role of feedback. *Experimental Brain Research*, 236(6):1699–1711, 2018.
- [47] Edward G Freedman. Coordination of the eyes and head during visual orienting. Experimental Brain Research, 190(4):369–387, 2008.
- [48] Edward G Freedman and David L Sparks. Coordination of the eyes and head: Movement kinematics. Experimental Brain Research, 131(1):22–32, 2000.
- [49] Karen C Fuson. Children's Counting and Concepts of Number. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [50] Karen C Fuson, John Richards, and Diane J Briars. The acquisition and elaboration of the number word sequence. In Charles J Brainerd, editor, *Children's Logical and Mathematical Cognition: Progress in Cognitive Development Research*, pages 33–92. Springer New York, New York, NY, 1982.

- [51] Inae C Gadotti, Leonard Elbaum, Youngjin Jung, Victor Garbalosa, Stephen Kornbluth, Bruno Da Costa, Kinsuk Maitra, and Denis Brunt. Evaluation of eye, head and trunk coordination during target tracking tasks. *Ergonomics*, 59(11):1420–1427, 2016.
- [52] Holly C Gagnon, Taren Rohovit, Hunter Finney, Yu Zhao, John M Franchak, Jeanine K Stefanucci, Bobby Bodenheimer, and Sarah H Creem-Regehr. The effect of feedback on estimates of reaching ability in virtual reality. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), pages 798–806. ieeexplore.ieee.org, 2021.
- [53] James E Gehringer, David J Arpin, Elizabeth Heinrichs-Graham, Tony W Wilson, and Max J Kurz. Practice modulates motor-related beta oscillations differently in adolescents and adults. *The Journal of Physiology*, 597(12):3203–3216, 2019.
- [54] Rochel Gelman and C R Gallistel. The Child's Understanding of Number. Harvard University Press, 1986.
- [55] Wayne D Gray, Chris R Sims, Wai-Tat Fu, and Michael J Schoelles. The soft constraints hypothesis: A rational analysis approach to resource allocation for interactive behavior. *Psychological Review*, 113(3):461–482, 2006.
- [56] Sandra Grinschgl, Frank Papenmeier, and Hauke S Meyerhoff. Consequences of cognitive offloading: Boosting performance but diminishing memory. *Quarterly Journal* of Experimental Psychology, 74(9):1477–1496, 2021.
- [57] Alden L Gross, Jason Brandt, Karen Bandeen-Roche, Michelle C Carlson, Elizabeth A Stuart, Michael Marsiske, and George W Rebok. Do older adults use the method of loci? results from the active study. *Experimental Aging Research*, 40(2):140–163, 2014.
- [58] Daniel Guitton and Michel Volle. Gaze control in humans: Eye-head coordination during orienting movements to targets within and beyond the oculomotor range. *Journal* of Neurophysiology, 58(3):427–459, 1987.
- [59] Gregor Hardiess, Kai Basten, and Hanspeter A Mallot. Acquisition vs. memorization trade-offs are modulated by walking distance and pattern complexity in a large-scale copying paradigm. *PLoS One*, 6(4):e18494, 2011.
- [60] Gregor Hardiess, Sabine Gillner, and Hanspeter A Mallot. Head and eye movements and the role of memory limitations in a visual search paradigm. *Journal of Vision*, 8(1):7.1–13, 2008.
- [61] Oliver Hardt, Karim Nader, and Lynn Nadel. Decay happens: The role of active forgetting in memory. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 17(3):111–120, 2013.
- [62] Mary M Hayhoe. Vision using routines: A functional account of vision. Visual Cognition, 7(1-3):43-64, 2000.

- [63] Mary M Hayhoe, David G Bensinger, and Dana H Ballard. Task constraints in visual working memory. Vision Research, 38(1):125–137, 1998.
- [64] Simone G Heideman, Freek van Ede, and Anna C Nobre. Temporal alignment of anticipatory motor cortical beta lateralisation in hidden visual-motor sequences. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 48(8):2684–2695, 2018.
- [65] Christopher Hertzog, Christy L McGuire, and Tara T Lineweaver. Aging, attributions, perceived control, and strategy use in a free recall task. *Neuropsychology, De*velopment, Cognition. Section B, Aging, Neuropsychology and Cognition, 5(2):85–106, 1998.
- [66] Kyoko Hine and Yuji Itoh. Warm-up cognitive activity enhances inhibitory function. PLoS One, 13(10):e0206605, 2018.
- [67] Mark A Hollands, Nausica V Ziavra, and Adolfo M Bronstein. A new paradigm to investigate the roles of head and eye movements in the coordination of whole-body movements. *Experimental Brain Research*, 154(2):261–266, 2004.
- [68] Andrew Howes, Geoffrey B Duggan, Kiran Kalidindi, Yuan-Chi Tseng, and Richard L Lewis. Predicting short-term remembering as boundedly optimal strategy choice. *Cognitive Science*, 40(5):1192–1223, 2016.
- [69] Brian Hu, Ishmael Johnson-Bey, Mansi Sharma, and Ernst Niebur. Head movements during visual exploration of natural images in virtual reality. In 2017 51st Annual Conference on Information Sciences and Systems (CISS), pages 1–6, 2017.
- [70] Shantanu Inamdar and Marc Pomplun. Comparative search reveals the tradeoff between eye movements and working memory use in visual tasks. *Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of the Cognitive Science Society*, 25(25), 2003.
- [71] Markus Janczyk, Iman Feghhi, and David A Rosenbaum. What matters in making demand-based decisions: Time alone or difficulty too? *Psychological Research*, 86(5):1355–1365, 2022.
- [72] Amy S Joh and Karen E Adolph. Learning from falling. Child Development, 77(1):89– 102, 2006.
- [73] Shailesh S Kantak and Carolee J Winstein. Learning-performance distinction and memory processes for motor skills: A focused review and perspective. *Behavioral Brain Research*, 228(1):219–231, 2012.
- [74] Lana B Karasik, Catherine S Tamis-LeMonda, and Karen E Adolph. Transition from crawling to walking and infants' actions with objects and people. *Child Development*, 82(4):1199–1209, 2011.
- [75] Lana B Karasik, Catherine S Tamis-Lemonda, and Karen E Adolph. Crawling and walking infants elicit different verbal responses from mothers. *Developmental Science*, 17(3):388–395, 2014.

- [76] Avi Karni, Gundela Meyer, Christine Rey-Hipolito, Peter Jezzard, Michelle M Adams, Robert Turner, and Leslie G Ungerleider. The acquisition of skilled motor performance: Fast and slow experience-driven changes in primary motor cortex. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(3):861–868, 1998.
- [77] Praveen Kenderla and Melissa M Kibbe. Explore versus store: Children strategically trade off reliance on exploration versus working memory during a complex task. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, in press.
- [78] Sarah L Kiefer, Alejandro Caballero, and Kelsey Lucca. The role of effort type and intensity in children's decisions about effort-based outcomes. *Infant and Child Devel*opment, page e2440, 2023.
- [79] Reinhold Kliegl, Jacqui Smith, and Paul B Baltes. Testing-the-limits and the study of adult age differences in cognitive plasticity of a mnemonic skill. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(2):247–256, 1989.
- [80] Reinhold Kliegl, Jacqui Smith, and Paul B Baltes. On the locus and process of magnification of age differences during mnemonic training. *Developmental Psychology*, 26(6):894–904, 1990.
- [81] Kari S Kretch, John M Franchak, and Karen E Adolph. Crawling and walking infants see the world differently. *Child Development*, 85(4):1503–1518, 2014.
- [82] Jack M Kuhns and Dayna R Touron. Schematic support increases memory strategy use in young and older adults. *Psychology of Aging*, 35(3):397–410, 2020.
- [83] Alexandra Kuznetsova, Per B Brockhoff, and Rune Haubo Bojesen Christensen. Imertest package: tests in linear mixed effects models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13), 2017.
- [84] Eli Labinger, Jenna R Monson, and John M Franchak. Effectiveness of adults' spontaneous exploration while perceiving affordances for squeezing through doorways. *PLoS One*, 13(12):e0209298, 2018.
- [85] G C Lagers-van Haselen, J van der Steen, and M A Frens. Copying strategies for patterns by children and adults. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 91(2):603–615, 2000.
- [86] Michael F Land. The coordination of rotations of the eyes, head and trunk in saccadic turns produced in natural situations. *Experimental Brain Research*, 159(2):151–160, 2004.
- [87] Louis N Y Lee and Philip N Johnson-Laird. Strategic changes in problem solving. Journal of Cognitive Psychology, 25(2):165–173, 2013.
- [88] Mei-Hua Lee, Ali Farshchiansadegh, and Rajiv Ranganathan. Children show limited movement repertoire when learning a novel motor skill. *Developmental Science*, 21(4):e12614, 2018.

- [89] Patrick Lemaire and Mireille Lecacheur. Strategy switch costs in arithmetic problem solving. Memory & Cognition, 38(3):322–332, 2010.
- [90] Élise Leroy, Éric Koun, and David Thura. Integrated control of non-motor and motor efforts during perceptual decision-making and action execution: A pilot study. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1):9354, 2023.
- [91] Chia-Ling Li, M Pilar Aivar, Matthew H Tong, and Mary M Hayhoe. Memory shapes visual search strategies in large-scale environments. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1):4324, 2018.
- [92] Steven G Luke. Evaluating significance in linear mixed-effects models in R. Behavior Research Methods, 49(4):1494–1502, 2017.
- [93] Chuan Luo and John M Franchak. Eye-head-body coordination in the motor-memory trade-off. *Collabra Psychology*, 8(1), 2022.
- [94] Chuan Luo and John M Franchak. How do people change the motor-memory trade-off spontaneously with practice. in prep.
- [95] Timo Mäntylä, Maria G Carelli, and Helen Forman. Time monitoring and executive functioning in children and adults. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 96(1):1– 19, 2007.
- [96] Martin, Tod A, Keating, James G, Goodkin, Howard P, Bastian, Amy J, Thach, William T. Throwing while looking through prisms. *Brain*, 119:1199–1211, 1996.
- [97] Hauke S Meyerhoff, Sandra Grinschgl, Frank Papenmeier, and Sam J Gilbert. Individual differences in cognitive offloading: A comparison of intention offloading, pattern copy, and short-term memory capacity. *Cognitive Research: Principles and Impliccations*, 6(1):34, 2021.
- [98] George A Miller. The magical number seven plus or minus two: Some limits on our capacity for processing information. *Psychological Review*, 63(2):81–97, 1956.
- [99] Ryoichi Nakashima and Satoshi Shioiri. Why do we move our head to look at an object in our peripheral region? lateral viewing interferes with attentive search. *PLoS* One, 9(3):e92284, 2014.
- [100] Daniel J Navarro, Ben R Newell, and Christin Schulze. Learning and choosing in an uncertain world: An investigation of the explore-exploit dilemma in static and dynamic environments. *Cognitive Psychology*, 85:43–77, 2016.
- [101] Brian S Oommen, Ryan M Smith, and John S Stahl. The influence of future gaze orientation upon eye-head coupling during saccades. *Experimental Brain Research*, 155(1):9–18, 2004.
- [102] Ora Oudgenoeg-Paz, Paul P M Leseman, and M Chiel J M Volman. Exploration as a mediator of the relation between the attainment of motor milestones and the

development of spatial cognition and spatial language. *Developmental Psychology*, 51(9):1241–1253, 2015.

- [103] Ora Oudgenoeg-Paz, M Chiel J M Volman, and Paul P M Leseman. Attainment of sitting and walking predicts development of productive vocabulary between ages 16 and 28 months. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 35(4):733–736, 2012.
- [104] Sharon Oviatt. Human-centered design meets cognitive load theory: Designing interfaces that help people think. In *Proceedings of the 14th ACM international conference* on Multimedia, MM '06, pages 871–880, New York, NY, USA, 2006. Association for Computing Machinery.
- [105] Scott G Paris, Richard S Newman, and Kelly A McVey. Learning the functional significance of mnemonic actions: A microgenetic study of strategy acquisition. *Journal* of Experimental Child Psychology, 34(3):490–509, 1982.
- [106] John Patrick. The influence of training and experience on memory strategy. Memory & Cognition, 43:775–787, 2015.
- [107] John Patrick, Phillip L Morgan, Victoria Smy, Leyanne Tiley, Helen Seeby, Tanya Patrick, and Jonathan Evans. The influence of training and experience on memory strategy. *Memory & Cognition*, 43(5):775–787, 2015.
- [108] Steven E Petersen, Hanneke van Mier, Julie A Fiez, and Marcus E Raichle. The effects of practice on the functional anatomy of task performance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(3):853–860, 1998.
- [109] Frank Antony Proudlock and Irene Gottlob. Physiology and pathology of eye-head coordination. Progress in Retinal and Eye Research, 26(5):486-515, 2007.
- [110] R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria, 2019.
- [111] George W Rebok and Laurie J Balcerak. Memory self-efficacy and performance differences in young and old adults: The effect of mnemonic training. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(5):714–721, 1989.
- [112] Gordon M Redding and Benjamin Wallace. Adaptive coordination and alignment of eye and hand. Journal of Motor Behavior, 25(2):75–88, 1993.
- [113] Ian Renshaw and Jia Yi Chow. A constraint-led approach to sport and physical education pedagogy. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 24(2):103–116, 2019.
- [114] Ian Renshaw, Jia Yi Chow, Keith Davids, and John Hammond. A constraints-led perspective to understanding skill acquisition and game play: A basis for integration of motor learning theory and physical education praxis? *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 15(2):117–137, 2010.

- [115] Rebecca K Robins and Mark A Hollands. The effects of constraining vision and eye movements on whole-body coordination during standing turns. *Experimental Brain Research*, 235(12):3593–3603, 2017.
- [116] Wendy A Rogers, Christopher Hertzog, and Arthur D Fisk. An individual differences analysis of ability and strategy influences: Age-related differences in associative learning. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory and Cognition, 26(2):359–394, 2000.
- [117] Franklin E Satterthwaite. Synthesis of variance. *Psychometrika*, 6(5):309–316, 1941.
- [118] Stephen H Scott. Optimal feedback control and the neural basis of volitional motor control. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 5(7):532–546, 2004.
- [119] Norman S Segalowitz and Sidney J Segalowitz. Skilled performance, practice, and the differentiation of speed-up from automatization effects: Evidence from second language word recognition. Applied Psycholinguistics, 14(3):369–385, 1993.
- [120] Ludwig Sidenmark and Hans Gellersen. Eye, head and torso coordination during gaze shifts in virtual reality. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction, 27(1):1–40, 2019.
- [121] Herbert A Simon and Stephen K Reed. Modeling strategy shifts in a problem-solving task. Cognitive Psychology, 8(1):86–97, 1976.
- [122] Grayden J F Solman and Alan Kingstone. Balancing energetic and cognitive resources: memory use during search depends on the orienting effector. *Cognition*, 132(3):443–454, 2014.
- [123] David Solomon, Vijay Kumar, R Adam Jenkins, and John Jewell. Head control strategies during whole-body turns. *Experimental Brain Research*, 173(3):475–486, 2006.
- [124] Kasey C Soska, Karen E Adolph, and Scott P Johnson. Systems in development: Motor skill acquisition facilitates three-dimensional object completion. *Developmental Psychology*, 46(1):129–138, 2010.
- [125] John S Stahl. Amplitude of human head movements associated with horizontal saccades. Experimental Brain Research, 126(1):41–54, 1999.
- [126] John S Stahl. Eye-head coordination and the variation of eye-movement accuracy with orbital eccentricity. *Experimental Brain Research*, 136(2):200–210, 2001.
- [127] Masataka Suzuki, Ayano Izawa, Kazushi Takahashi, and Yoshihiko Yamazaki. The coordination of eye, head, and arm movements during rapid gaze orienting and arm pointing. *Experimental Brain Research*, 184(4):579–585, 2008.
- [128] Benjamin W Tatler. The central fixation bias in scene viewing: Selecting an optimal viewing position independently of motor biases and image feature distributions. *Journal of Vision*, 7(14):1–17, 2007.

- [129] Dayna R Touron and Christopher Hertzog. Distinguishing age differences in knowledge, strategy use, and confidence during strategic skill acquisition. *Psychology and Aging*, 19(3):452–466, 2004.
- [130] Paul Verhaeghen and Reinhold Kliegl. The effects of learning a new algorithm on asymptotic accuracy and execution speed in old age: A reanalysis. *Psychology and Aging*, 15(4):648–656, 2000.
- [131] Paul Verhaeghen and Alfons Marcoen. Production deficiency hypothesis revisited: Adult age differences in strategy use as a function of processing resources. Neuropsychology, Development, Cognition. Section B, Aging, Neuropsychology and Cognition, 1(4):323–338, 1994.
- [132] Paul Verhaeghen, Alfons Marcoen, and Luc Goossens. Improving memory performance in the aged through mnemonic training: A meta-analytic study. *Psychology* and Aging, 7(2):242–251, 1992.
- [133] Eric A Walle and Joseph J Campos. Infant language development is related to the acquisition of walking. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(2):336–348, 2014.
- [134] Kelsey L West, Nina B Leezenbaum, Jessie B Northrup, and Jana M Iverson. The relation between walking and language in infant siblings of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Child Development*, 90(3):e356–e372, 2019.
- [135] Gabriele Wulf, Charles Shea, and Rebecca Lewthwaite. Motor skill learning and performance: A review of influential factors. *Medical Education*, 44(1):75–84, 2010.